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(1)

SCHOOL VIOLENCE: WHAT IS BEING DONE TO
COMBAT SCHOOL VIOLENCE? WHAT
SHOULD BE DONE?

THURSDAY, MAY 20, 1999

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON CRIMINAL JUSTICE, DRUG POLICY,

AND HUMAN RESOURCES,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM,

Washington, DC.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:13 a.m., in room

2154, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John L. Mica (chair-
man of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Mica, Barr, Souder, Hutchinson, Ose,
Sanford, Mink, Towns, Cummings, Kucinich, and Tierney.

Staff present: Sharon Pinkerton, deputy staff director; Steve
Dillingham, special counsel; Amy Davenport, clerk; Cherri
Branson, minority counsel, and Ellen Rayner, minority chief clerk.

Mr. MICA. Good morning. I would like to call this meeting of the
House Subcommittee on Criminal Justice, Drug Policy, and Human
Resources to order.

The topic of our hearing this morning is ‘‘School Violence: What
is Being Done to Combat School Violence? What Should be Done?’’

I am going to give an opening statement first, as an order of pro-
cedure. Then we will hear from the ranking member and other
members on the topic before us. Finally, we will hear from four
panels of witnesses.

I actually wrote this opening statement before this morning’s
news. I said in my opening sentence, ‘‘School violence, a recurring
problem, has dominated the news in recent weeks,’’ and maybe now
I should edit it to say ‘‘School violence, a recurring problem domi-
nates the news even today with yet another tragic act of violence
in Atlanta, GA.’’ As we begin the hearing this morning, our
thoughts and prayers are with that community, and those affected
by this senseless violence.

While student deaths receive the most media attention, the De-
partment of Justice Bureau of Justice statistics tells us that thou-
sands of violent crimes occur everyday in, and near our schools.

In 1996, approximately 225,000 non-fatal, serious crimes oc-
curred at schools, and about 671,000 away from schools. The tragic
events at Columbine High School in Littleton, CO and its after-
math have riveted our national attention on this pressing and per-
plexing issue. Needless acts of violence are always reprehensible,
but vicious and multiple killings in our schools that take the lives
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of our innocent children are among the most tragic and
heartwrenching events imaginable. I am thankful that my children
have completed their high school education without having experi-
enced such violence.

School violence at all levels is an issue that Congress has a re-
sponsibility to address. We are obligated to determine what more
can be done to protect children of all ages, particularly from acts
of violence associated with our schools.

Our subcommittee today is exercising its oversight responsibility
over the Department of Justice, the Department of Health and
Human Services, and the Department of Education. I don’t think
there is another subcommittee in Congress that has such broad au-
thority, so our role is very important as it covers many of these
Federal agencies that deal with the problems of violence in our
education system.

Every member of this panel is committed to ensuring that our
Federal, State, and local officials and groups are working together
to confront a national problem. Clearly, those on the front line in
preventing youth violence in our schools and communities have val-
uable experiences and insight as to what is being done and what
should be done to combat school violence. My colleague and the
ranking member of this subcommittee, the gentlewoman from Ha-
waii, Mrs. Mink, has joined me in calling for a hearing on this criti-
cal issue. She was one of those who originally called for Congress’
investigation and a review of what is going on and I commend her
for that.

We have included a number of panelists here today at both the
request of the minority and the majority because we realize that
combating school crime and identifying effective preventative meas-
ures to lessen violence in our schools is not a partisan issue. I do
recognize, however, that members and those testifying here today
may have different opinions regarding how best to accomplish the
shared goal of preventing school violence, and we look forward to
learning more about these ideas and opinions. I am especially
pleased that we have many representatives of our State and local
schools, law enforcement, and prosecution communities who are in-
volved with these very serious issues every day.

Today, our Federal Government has a number of Federal pro-
grams and agencies that spend hundreds of millions of taxpayer
dollars to address the problem of school violence. It is an especially
important matter for this subcommittee that our Federal programs
provide the targeted and effective assistance that is needed by our
States, our cities, and our local communities and schools.

We will learn, today, that the Department of Health and Human
Resources has vast resources and personnel dedicated to our Na-
tion’s mental health needs. The Substance Abuse and Mental Ad-
ministration is a component of HHS and is responsible for provid-
ing leadership and assistance to States and our communities in
meeting the mental health needs of our Nation. It is clear that
mental health aspects of school violence are particularly signifi-
cant. What is it that leads a student to commit or even consider
such heinous acts? And if we know some of the psychological fac-
tors associated with these violent behaviors, what are we doing
about it? Do our Federal programs accomplish their goals effi-
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ciently and effectively? Is the Federal Government helping or hurt-
ing with these programs and policies? Every dollar dedicated to
this very significant and terrible problem must be put to maximum
use and problems and inefficiencies must be remedied.

Another Federal department over which we have oversight re-
sponsibility is the Department of Education. A component of the
Department, which has direct responsibility for combating school
violence through educational initiatives, is the Safe and Drug Free
Schools Program. We must not forget the strong relationship be-
tween drug abuse and violent behavior, whether or not drug abuse
is directly linked with the most recent tragic events or not. The
prevention of drug abuse goes hand in hand with crime prevention
and the reinforcement of lawful and responsible behaviors. Are
Federal agencies, particularly the Safe and Drug Free Schools Pro-
gram, maximizing available resources in these efforts?

Many questions have been raised in the past about program ef-
fectiveness and accountability. Is there evidence that promised im-
provements have been made? If not, then why? This program has
a substantial budget of more than $566 million this year alone—
over half a billion—and has spent an estimated $6 billion since
1986. Has this been a wise investment?

We will hear about some of the changes that have been at-
tempted as well as new programs that are being instituted, such
as the Safe Schools, Healthy Students initiative. Do these initia-
tives represent the best knowledge and employ the very best prac-
tices? Are they efficient and effective? Are they sufficiently target-
ing the most critical needs? Do States and local communities have
ample discretion to tailor the resources to their particular needs?

Another issue that we will discuss today is an issue many people
single out as being a major concern, which is violence in our
schools from weapons. Our role today as an oversight subcommittee
for the Department of Justice requires us to also ask a key ques-
tion: Is the Justice Department vigorously enforcing the firearm
laws we have had on the books for the last 6 years? Why is it that
Congress passed a law in 1994 criminalizing gun possession by ju-
veniles, and there have been only 13 cases prosecuted in the last
2 years? There have been 11 prosecutions for illegal transfer of
guns to juveniles—that is only 11 prosecutions. This seems to me
to be a serious lapse in the Department of Justice’s commitment to
this issue.

I am particularly concerned that our request to have a represent-
ative of the Department of Justice come and testify about what
they are doing has been turned down, but I have talked to the
ranking member. We are not going to subpoena that witness today,
but we will give the Department of Justice an opportunity in the
near future to come and respond to some of these questions.

What we may not consider today is a more fundamental ques-
tion: Are guns, bombs, violent movies and other such influences
causing the problem or has our system of values, morals, faith,
family structure and failed role models brought about these prob-
lems? Hopefully, this hearing will provide us with insight as to
what the Federal Government is doing to address the problems of
Columbine, Jonesboro, Paducah, and, today, Atlanta.
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I want to take this opportunity to thank our panelists from var-
ious States and communities and schools who will share their expe-
rience and insight with our subcommittee. I know that the intro-
duction into our schools of sworn human resource officers, skilled
counselors, and alternative learning approaches for at-risk students
can play a very important and significant role in a school’s ability
to combat and prevent aberrant behaviors and acts of violence.

I also realize that sometimes too much is expected of our teach-
ers and schools and that parents, families and churches are pri-
marily responsible for instilling the values we want our children to
share. I hope that the approaches that we are employing foster and
supplement our families and religious institutions rather than con-
flict with them.

Specifically, I would like this hearing to examine the following
issues: first, are our Federal programs operating efficiently and ef-
fectively in combating school violence and are needed improve-
ments being made? Second, what promising approaches are being
pursued in our States and communities and schools? What, if any-
thing, should Congress do to facilitate or reinforce these efforts?
Third, what is the current state of our knowledge of this complex
and often perplexing issue, and what is being done to learn more
about factors that contribute to school violence? And I have added
a fourth thing that I would like to address either in this sub-
committee hearing or in additional hearings that we will conduct.
Are we able to keep the law up to date with technology? I added
this because I received a copy of this from one of my staffers who
does work with the Internet and handles all of our computer oper-
ations, and he pulled up this anarchist’s cookbook, and it is pages
and pages of instruction about how to make a bomb or explosive
devices. And, so my fourth question today, is has the law kept up
with technology, and what do we need to do in that regard?

So, with these and other questions, again, on a morning when we
have experienced another tragedy of school violence, I am pleased
to yield to our ranking member, Mrs. Mink, the gentlelady from
Hawaii, for her opening statement.

Mrs. MINK. I thank the chairman for yielding me time and for
agreeing to call the hearing.

This is a topic that probably, if we had convened before Littleton,
may not have brought the attention of so many individuals. How-
ever, after the tragic occurrences in Colorado and again this morn-
ing being reminded that it is a continuing crisis erupting in our
schools, it is extremely timely that this committee, having over-
sight responsibility, take a serious look at what the Federal Gov-
ernment can do, what it is doing or could do better, or what it
should not be doing? And I think it is very appropriate that we
begin today with an examination of this very, very serious topic.

I do not believe that it is for members of this subcommittee or
even of the full committee or of Congress to try to come up with
specific ways in which we can assure the country that these events
are not going to happen. I think that is beyond our capacity and
beyond the capacity, really, of school superintendents or principals
or community leaders. To look around for blame and leveling accu-
sations of failures or inaction by officials that have responsibility
is not the mission of this oversight committee.
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Our search today in calling this vast array of witnesses is to sin-
cerely make an attempt to examine what, in these individuals’ per-
spectives, who are all experts—experienced leaders who work in
the field of education or in the field of research in these matters
having to do with violence in our society—what they think the role
of the Congress and the Federal Government might be.

I think this is a State and local responsibility, something that
the schools, themselves, have to deal with, and I don’t—as one
member of this subcommittee and of the Congress—propose in any
way to issue more mandates or more laws that will dictate policy.
I think it is something that the individual schools and local dis-
tricts have to come up with. But, at the same time, I do believe the
Federal Government has a unique responsibility to examine what
is there in terms of assistance on the State and local level and
what further things the Federal Government might do. It is in this
area that I think we have a profound responsibility to make an
honest search to see that these incidents occurring in our schools
do not happen.

Of course, if we took guns away and made sure that guns never
had entry into our schools, that would eliminate this type of vio-
lence, but I think it goes far beyond just doing a physical examina-
tion for guns. It goes to the whole psychology of our youth and
what we can do as responsible leaders and legislators to try to help
our youngsters deal with their internal conflicts, their psychological
problems, their anger, their hate, or whatever it is that motivates
them to this type of criminal behavior.

I would like to take, also, this opportunity to research the pro-
grams that Congress has already enacted and funded to see wheth-
er they are working, to see whether we can expand them, whether
we should move in other directions. So, our oversight responsibil-
ities are very expansive, and I hope that we will pursue this in-
quiry with the diligence which is required.

Given the announcement of the shootings in Atlanta, we have a
huge impending crisis, and I wondered out loud as I heard this
story come over the television this morning, if it would not be wise
for our schools to shut down the remainder of the school year—
there is only a couple of weeks, in fact, in some places, days left—
in order to calm the environment? I have absolutely no doubt that
young people simulate what they see and hear, and no one can di-
rect my thinking otherwise. That is the power of television and the
power of the gruesome stories that we see nightly. So, perhaps, to
calm the situation and make sure this thing doesn’t repeat itself
in the next several days and weeks and before the end of the school
year, this might be a serious alternative that could be considered.

Undoubtedly, the Federal Government and the Congress has a
leadership responsibility, and we are here today as a subcommittee
to begin the process of determining what it is that we should, not
as mandates but as leaders, to try to pave the way toward solu-
tions that lead to prevention, which is my primary objective. Is it
school counselors? What sort of things can we do to improve the
ability of school administrators to deal with the problem and to try
to counsel the parents and the community and the students af-
fected to lead them away from the temptation of violence of this
sort?
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So, I commend the Chair of this subcommittee for taking the lead
and embarking upon this very, very important and crucial exam-
ination of school violence, and I hope that we will conclude these
meetings with some very meaningful suggestions that we can make
to the Government, to the Congress, itself, to appropriators who
fund the programs that we determine to be important and helpful.

So, thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. I thank the gentlelady and yield now to the gentleman

from Arkansas, Mr. Hutchinson, for an opening statement.
Mr. HUTCHINSON. Mr. Chairman and ranking member, I am just

delighted that you are conducting this hearing. I think it is ex-
traordinarily important. We, in Arkansas, certainly understand the
tragedy of school violence with the shooting that occurred in
Jonesboro. It is an issue that concerns our Nation, each of our
States, and, as a parent of teenagers, it certainly reaches deep into
the heart of every American. And, so I am grateful for this hearing.
There are no easy answers, but we have to address it; we have to
hear from people; we have to hear from teenagers, teachers, and
others. I am pleased with this hearing and look forward to the tes-
timony of the panelists today and to participating in the hearing.

Mr. MICA. Thank the gentleman.
I now recognize for an opening statement, the gentleman from

New York, Mr. Towns.
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and let me

thank you and also the ranking committee chairperson, Mrs. Mink,
for holding this hearing today.

I think this is a very timely hearing; no question about that. But
I think that Congresswoman Mink touched upon it—that for some
reason we think blame is a solution to the problem. Well, blame
is not a solution to this problem. I think we have to stop and look
at where we are, at what we are doing. We continue to cut out var-
ious programs and then expect not to have any problems.

Years ago, we had a lot of intramural programs; we had after-
school programs—we had a debating society; we had varsity as well
as junior varsity—and all these activities gave young people a
sense of value. They felt they were involved in something; they
were involved in the community, but now they seem to be discon-
nected. We continue to move in this direction not recognizing that
we are not saving money in the long run and we are hurting people
in a lot of ways. So, I think that we now have to stop and take a
very serious look at where we are and say, ‘‘Wait a minute, what
we are doing is just not working.’’ We have problems. Let us now
go back and do some of the things we have done in the past. Sure,
a person might not be able to make the varsity team, but that
doesn’t mean they should not be involved in something. Also, there
is no law that says that the school should shut down at three
o’clock and nobody should be allowed in it. I think that the activi-
ties could go on in many, many ways. I think if we had strong de-
bating teams, then maybe a lot of the fights that take place would
not occur, because they would be able to talk them out and they
would have the kind of skills that would enable this. I think all of
these things need to be seriously examined before we start doing
all kinds of crazy things to address school violence.
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The last thing that I think is a very serious issue, is toy guns.
We need to take a look at those toy guns that look like guns and
begin to say ‘‘Look, we need to get rid of them.’’ We need to take
a position and take a position on that now. We have too many
young people being killed just for the fact they had a toy gun in
their hand. We need recognize that police officers today, in this at-
mosphere and climate, are not going to interview anybody before
they make a decision to shoot. They are not going to say, ‘‘Is your
gun a toy or is your gun real?’’ They are not going to do that. They
are going to shoot, and then after that, the issue will come up that
it was only a toy gun and he or she was only 13 or only 14 or only
15.

So, I think we need to look at all these things. The errors that
we can correct, the errors that we can do something about we
should do something about. And those errors that we can’t do any-
thing about, then that is different, but the point is that we have
not even tried in the way that I feel that we should try.

So, Mr. Chairman, I think you are on the right track by bringing
in the experts and letting us talk with them and try to get some
information and ideas about how we should move and where we
should move and recognize the fact that sometimes when we elimi-
nate a program we don’t save much. Sometimes, when we elimi-
nate a program, we save money here, but we spend it on the back
end, and I think that we need to be very, very concerned about
that.

Thank you very much for holding this hearing, and I yield back.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Dennis J. Kucinich follows:]
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Mr. MICA. I thank the gentleman and now would like to intro-
duce our first panel of witnesses. Our first witness is Dr. Nelba
Chavez, Federal Administrator of the Substance Abuse and Mental
Health Services Administration of the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services. Our second witness is Mr. William
Modzeleski, Director of the Safe and Drug Free Schools Program
for the Department of Education. Both of these witnesses, as I said,
oversee Federal programs dealing with this issue for which we al-
ready spend hundreds of millions of dollars. I see that we have
more than two there—I did well in math—is anyone else going to
testify? OK, we are not going to have anyone else testify.

This is an investigation and oversight panel of Congress, and we
do swear in all of our witnesses. So, could I ask the two witnesses
to stand, please.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. MICA. The witnesses answered in the affirmative. I would

like to welcome both of you today. We are anxious to hear what you
are doing and your perspective on this important issue.

I might say that normally we have a 5-minute rule, but we will
extend that, since we only have two in this panel. However, if you
have lengthy statements or other documents you would like to be
made part of the record, we will do that upon request.

So, with that, I would like to, again, welcome you and recognize,
first, Dr. Nelba Chevez, Administrator of Substance Abuse and
Mental Health Services Administration, also known as SAMHSA,
at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Welcome,
and you are recognized.

STATEMENTS OF NELBA CHAVEZ, ADMINISTRATOR, SUB-
STANCE ABUSE AND MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES ADMINIS-
TRATION, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERV-
ICES; AND WILLIAM MODZELESKI, DIRECTOR, SAFE AND
DRUG FREE SCHOOLS PROGRAM, DEPARTMENT OF EDU-
CATION

Dr. CHAVEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to take this op-
portunity to thank you for your leadership and to also thank the
other members of the committee for your commitment to the very,
very serious problems that we are facing.

I have an oral testimony, but I also have written testimony that
I would like to enter for the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, the complete statement will be
made part of the record.

Dr. CHAVEZ. Thank you. I also want to introduce Dr. Bernie
Arons who is to my left. He is the Director of the Center for Mental
Health Services, and, Dr. Karol Kumpfer, who is the Director for
the Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. They will be available
for any further questions that you may have.

Let me just start out by saying that we are here today because
we care deeply about America’s future. A month ago—and, again,
like you, Mr. Chairman, I put this together a few days ago, so I
am talking about a month ago—there was a chilling message about
the future that stunned all of us. That was the day two students
in Littleton, CO opened fire, killing classmates in cold blood. This
morning, we heard about the shootings in Atlanta. Similar horrors
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around the country have become as familiar on the news as ran-
dom drive-by shootings. A poll of American adolescents revealed
that 47 percent of teens believe their schools are becoming more
violent. In addition to being perpetrators and victims of violence,
children are also harmed by being witness to violence. Children’s
exposure to violence and maltreatment is significantly associated
with increased depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder,
anger, greater alcohol and drug use, and lower school attainment.
It would be inaccurate and misleading to claim that any single in-
fluence leads to violence, whether it is abuse, emotional and behav-
ior problems, peer pressure, alcohol and drug use, lack of parental
guidance, or pro-violence or drug use media messages. These and
a host of other influences are involved. Our Nation’s children, ado-
lescents, families, and communities clearly have multiple needs,
and they deserve comprehensive solutions.

We are here to discuss what we, in the Federal Government, can
and must do to turn our commitment into progress for our children.
We have already pulled together research which outlines the course
to take in the short and the long term. The findings are complex
but not surprising. Children exposed to drugs, family conflicts, aca-
demic failure, and whose friends or peers engage in anti-social be-
haviors are at risk for negative and violent outcomes. Conversely,
we know children can be protected from these risks. Even more so
than risk factors, protective factors can have impact for the rest of
their lives in helping them overcome adversity.

Just yesterday, we released findings from one of our prevention
programs. We found, in successful programs, protective factors
start with meaningful contact with adults who convey positive ex-
pectations. Our children all need opportunities to become involved,
and they need support in building interpersonal skills. Our com-
prehensive evaluations also show that programs must be flexible.
Interventions that work take into account the emotional and cog-
nitive level of the children and the developmental tasks appro-
priate for different ages.

As we look at the multiple challenges faced by our children, per-
haps the most troubling observation is that until they are diag-
nosed with a serious mental problem, become addicted or involved
in the criminal justice system or worse, there is no system and very
few services available in this country that identify and intervene
with children and families before problems occur.

Increasingly, we have become aware of the multitude of problems
that children in adolescence face. For example, today, one in five
children in adolescence in this country have a serious emotional or
behavioral problem, yet 60 percent of them do not receive the treat-
ment they need. If we wait until children turn to crime, drugs, or
enter the juvenile justice system, we all pay the price. We pay the
price in suicide, child abuse, addiction, violence.

Two initiatives at SAMHSA look at the whole child within the
context of the family and the community. Through these and other
prevention programs, we are working to address the needs of our
children earlier on. First, in partnership with the Departments of
Education and Justice, we announced the Safe Schools, Healthy
Students initiative just last month. This collaborative effort will
provide 50 school districts throughout the United States with tools
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to develop and implement comprehensive, community-wide strate-
gies for creating safe and drug free schools and for promoting
healthy childhood development; meaning physically and mentally
healthy. Second, we will soon announce the funding of initiatives
to help expand school-based programs and raise awareness about
mental health services for children.

At SAMHSA, we are working to support the President and your
vision for American youth. We know the protections we can offer
are stronger than the risks our children encounter. We know we
must act quickly, but we must act wisely.

I would like to close with the words of Tito, an ex-gang member.
He says, ‘‘Kids can walk around trouble if there is someplace to
walk to and someone to walk with.’’ He is telling us that we all
have remarkable potential; our job is to open the door. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Chavez follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony, we will hold questions
until the other witnesses have testified.

I will now recognize Mr. Modzeleski, Director of the Safe and
Drug Free Schools Program in the Department of Education.

Mr. MODZELESKI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning,
Madam Vicechairman and members of the committee. I would like
to enter my complete testimony into the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. MODZELESKI. Thank you very much. On behalf of Secretary

Riley, I want to say that I am very pleased to testify before this
committee this morning.

We feel that the Department of Education has a key role in help-
ing to prevent school crime and violence. The Department of Edu-
cation has been at the forefront of supporting schools with re-
sources for drug and violence prevention activities and assisting
schools in ensuring that every child has the opportunity to go to
school and every teacher has the opportunity to teach in school
without being threatened, bullied, robbed, attacked, pressured to
buy illicit drugs, or present among other students using illicit
drugs.

We are, however, not alone in these efforts. Working very closely
with us every step of the way are our colleagues from a host of
agencies within the Departments of Justice, Health and Human
Services, the Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the Of-
fice of National Drug Control Policy. Our work with these other
agencies reflects a partnership approach to creating safe and drug
free school environments, an approach we would like to see every
community in this country adopt. We believe success in creating
safe schools is contingent upon our ability to forge linkages at all
levels of government, to share resources and ideas, and to work to-
gether for the common good of our children and youth.

As you are aware, 1 month ago, two young men walked into Col-
umbine High School in Littleton, CO and several hours of random
shooting changed the perspective of many people in this country
about the relative safety of our schools. The tragedy at Columbine,
coming approximately 1 year after a string of other school incidents
where there were multiple victims, and this morning’s shootings at
Heritage High School in Rockdale County, GA, gave many the im-
pression that our schools, regardless of where they are located, are
places where neither teachers nor students are safe. Perception,
however, is not reality. While there are some schools in this coun-
try where students and teachers fall victim to crime and violence,
data collected by the Departments of Justice and Education and
the Center for Disease Control show that schools remain safe
places, safer than many of the communities in which the students
come from, and safer than many of the homes in which they live.

The report issued by the Departments of Education and Justice,
in October 1998, the Annual Report on School Safety, provides
some evidence of this. It shows that 90 percent of public schools re-
port no incidents of serious violent crime, and less than half—43
percent—of schools reported no crime at all. Children age 12 to 18
are twice as likely to be a victim of a serious violent crime in the
community as they are in school, and, overall, over the past 5
years, school crime, generally, has decreased. In 1996 and 1997,
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while 6,093 students were expelled for bringing a firearm to school,
preliminary data for the 1997–1998 school year indicate that this
number is decreasing.

I may also note that despite recent high visibility incidents in the
last 2 years, school-associated violent deaths remain extremely rare
events. Fewer than 1 percent of all the homicides and suicides
among school age children happen at school, on the way to school,
or at school-sponsored functions. The study conducted for the 1992–
1993 and 1993–1994 school years by the Departments of Education,
Justice, and the Centers for Disease Control found that in a 2-year
period, 63 students, age 5 through 19, were murdered at school,
and 13 committed suicide at school. Firearms were responsible for
77 percent of the total number of school-associated violent deaths.
The victims and offenders tended to be young—the median ages
were 16 and 17 respectively—and male—82 and 95 percent respec-
tively. And that has occurred in communities of all sizes in 25 dif-
ferent States.

Furthermore, preliminary data from the joint Department of
Education, Centers for Disease Control study indicate that the
number of students who are homicide or suicide victims in schools
has been gradually decreasing since 1992, even though the number
of multiple homicide events has been increasing.

Even though data related to school crime and violence indicate
that schools remain among the safest places for children and
youth-to-be, we should not be satisfied. We can do better. We can
create schools where every child can learn, and every teacher can
teach without being threatened or victimized. However, in order to
do so, we will have to overcome a series of obstacles that confront
many schools. We are working diligently to this by developing
strategies to assist schools in collecting and utilizing sound objec-
tive data for program planning and decisionmaking; by identifying
and encouraging all schools to implement research-based programs;
by viewing school safety and drug prevention efforts in a broader,
more comprehensive context of violence and drug prevention efforts
and not used in isolation with other prevention efforts or other
things happening in schools; by finding a better way to target re-
sources, schools and communities and needs; and by assisting
schools to ensure that all students are connected to an adult in
school and all students are provided a range of opportunities that
afford them the opportunity to achieve their fullest.

We are doing this in a collaborative fashion through a number
of means: through the development and dissemination of a range
of publications, such as the Early Warning Guide, which, hopefully,
Kevin Dwyer will talk about from one of the other panels; through
improved information collection, analysis and dissemination, such
as our Annual Report on School Safety; through expanded technical
assistance opportunities, such as in the area of school safety, with
the joint Department of Education OJJDP efforts; through targeted
training and topics, such as conflict resolution and hate crimes;
through the identification of exemplary programs and exemplary
schools by our expert panel on Safe, Disciplined, and Drug Free
Schools; through linkage of the Department of Education efforts,
such as the 21st century learning centers; through the development
of discretionary programs which provide resources to hire persons
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who assist middle schools, identify the most common sense strate-
gies available for these schools; and, as Dr. Chavez said, through
the development and support of an initiative entitled Safe Schools,
Healthy Students.

I would like to say one thing about this initiative—it signals a
clear change in the way that we are approaching and addressing
the problem of school violence. Rather than provide schools and
communities with funds to address a portion or single element of
the problem they face and provide funds independent of what other
agencies do, we have designed a program which will provide funds
to local education agencies to develop comprehensive program ap-
proaches to school safety. Schools will have to develop a plan which
addresses six elements necessary for the creation of a safe school,
including school security, mental health services, and drug and vio-
lence prevention programs.

Last, I would like to quickly mention our proposal to overhaul
the Safe and Drug Free Schools Program. Our reauthorization pro-
posal for the Safe and Drug Free Schools Program, which will be
submitted tomorrow, will make significant changes to the effective-
ness of the program. The proposal will balance local flexibility with
greater accountability; it will emphasize the implementation of
high quality research-based programs that are consistent with the
principles of effectiveness; it will strengthen program accountabil-
ity requiring recipients of funds to adopt outcome-based perform-
ance indicators in a comprehensive, safe and drug free school plan;
it will help local education agencies respond to violent and trau-
matic crises by establishing the School Emergency Response to Vio-
lence Program.

This program would authorize the Secretary to provide rapid as-
sistance to school districts that have experienced violent or other
traumatic crises that have disrupted the learning environment. It
will require that students found in possession of a firearm in school
be evaluated to determine if they pose an imminent threat of harm
to themselves or others. Other provisions of the Elementary and
Secondary Education Act we propose would highlight that each
State submit information in its annual report card, including infor-
mation regarding incidents of school violence, drug and alcohol
abuse, and the number of instances in which a student has pos-
sessed a firearm in school. Further, it would require districts to
have and to enforce on an equitable and consistent basis, firm
school discipline policies. We think adoption of these changes will
go a long way to improving the quality and effectiveness of drug
and violence prevention programs in schools.

In closing, I would like to state that creating safe and drug free
schools may be a difficult but not impossible task. We, at all levels,
have done a lot to ensure that all students and all teachers have
the opportunity to go to schools that are safe, disciplined, and drug
free, but we clearly recognize that there is a lot more than needs
to be done. We must be willing to tackle difficult questions, such
as how to limit youth access to guns, and we must do it in a non-
partisan fashion. We stand ready to work with this committee on
identifying and implementing strategies that will make our schools
stronger and safer.
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Mr. Chairman, one final comment, and that is to clarify in your
opening statement the fact that the Gun Free Schools Act, which
was passed in 1994, is part of the Elementary and Secondary
Schools Act. That particular provision of the law did not criminal-
ize the carrying of firearms. It required all States to adopt policies
which, one, require the expulsion of all students found to have
brought a firearm to school, and, two, to report these incidents to
appropriate law enforcement officials, which in most jurisdictions
are the local police or sheriff. They are the ones who are making
the determination as to what should be done with an individual
possessing a firearm.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Modzeleski follows:]
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Mr. MICA. I thank you for your testimony. In fact, I thank both
of our witnesses.

We do have a vote, and I think we have got about 6 or 7 minutes
left in the vote, so we will recess this subcommittee hearing until
11:15. I will ask our witnesses to come back at that time, and we
will begin questions. Thank you; we are in recess.

[Recess.]
Mr. MICA. I would like to call the subcommittee back to order.
We have heard from our first two witnesses. They have described

some of the Federal programs that deal with the topic at hand. The
problem of school violence.

I would like to start the first round of questioning, if I may, by
directing a couple of questions to the Director of our Safe and Drug
Free School Programs—is it Modzeleski?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. I want to pronounce it correctly. Sir, I am afraid that

if I told the folks that you spent how much? Is it $566 million?
Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. Is that your amount—$566 million for Safe and Drug

Free Schools, and parents were grading the report card for the
agency right now, you would probably be getting a ‘‘D’’ or an ‘‘F.’’
I think the perception out there is that we are not addressing the
problem, and it appears we are spending significant amounts of
money. Was it you that testified that there is another program that
is going to be introduced or you have an announcement coming?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. And when is that?
Mr. MODZELESKI. Either today or tomorrow.
Mr. MICA. And can you tell us the details of it?
Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir, very much so. Let me first say that

it is not the Department of Education that is spending in 1998 over
$550 million on State grants. For the most part, these are funds
that go to the State education agencies and, in turn, go down to
the local education agencies, and the local education agencies are
making determinations and decisions about how to spend these dol-
lars with a great deal of flexibility. So, decisions regarding what
programs to place in schools, what activities to engage in, are being
made at the local level. They are not being made at the Federal
level.

The entire Elementary and Secondary Schools Act will be sub-
mitted for reauthorization, as I said, either later today or tomor-
row. The President will set up the entire bill, and that will start
a process both here in the House as well as in the Senate on reau-
thorizing the entire bill. Title IV of that bill is the Safe and Drug
Free Schools Act, and that contains provisions for overhauling the
Safe and Drug Free Schools Program. What it will do is that, No.
1, we are attempting to balance the flexibility with greater account-
ability to improve the quality of programs that are funded at the
local level while continuing to ensure that decisions made about
what programs to adopt, what programs to place in schools, are de-
cisions made at the local level, not in the State Capitol nor in
Washington.

Two, is it strengthens the Guns Free Schools Act by requiring
that anybody who is found to be in possession of a firearm or some-
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body who brings a firearm to school will have to go through a men-
tal health assessment to determine whether or not that person
poses a threat to himself or to others.

Three, it adds a provision that will provide funds for recovery to
schools, such as Columbine or Springfield, OR, last year, that have
had tragedies.

It also sets up a provision in other titles, specifically title XI
which will require that schools not only have school discipline poli-
cies but that those school discipline policies be developed with par-
ents and students, that they be enforced in an equitable basis, and
also that schools, school districts and the States have report cards
and that the report cards contain information not only on firearms
but also on other incidents of serious violent crimes that occur in
the school.

Mr. MICA. It is my understanding that prior to 1998, there was
actually more money in the program. Is that correct?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir. Yes, there was.
Mr. MICA. I guess there was an outcry of criticism as to how

moneys for the State schools program was being expended. The
criticisms were—paying for a clown act, magic shows, a new Pon-
tiac Grand Prix, a holiday awareness campaign, encounter semi-
nars at a tourist retreat. I guess you got a lot of heat from Con-
gress about how the money was spent, so there was a cutback.
There is an array of other programs—the camera is rolling, and I
don’t want to get into a description of all of them here—but they
arguable were not promoting safe schools. I guess there was quite
a bit of criticism, and that is one reason why some of these funds
got cut. Is that correct?

Mr. MODZELESKI. It is one of the reasons why. It wasn’t the sole
reason why, and, also, again—

Mr. MICA. If it wasn’t the reason why, what has been done to
make certain that these expenditures for which you were criticized,
or your program was criticized, are not reccurring? Have we taken
care of these problems?

Mr. MODZELESKI. We think we have. I think that there have
been several steps. One, again, to ensure that the steps that we
have taken are codified. In our reauthorization proposal, you are
going to see significant steps to improve the accountability of the
Safe and Drug Free Schools Program. Second, in July of last year,
we issued what is called the Principles of Effectiveness. What we
require now from every school district receiving funds from the
Safe and Drug Free Schools Program is that they do four things:
one is that they conduct an assessment of their problems, so, clear-
ly, they have a better understanding of what is happening in the
school and programs are based upon that assessment, not upon
guesswork or not upon what an individual says. Two, we are ask-
ing every school district in this country to work with the commu-
nity to develop measurable goals and objectives so we know exactly
where they are. Three, we are asking every school district that uses
Safe and Drugs Schools Program dollars to ensure those dollars are
being used for research-based programs. And, four, we are asking
every school district to ensure through a periodic evaluation, that
the goals and objectives they have set out—not what the Federal
Government established—but the goals and objectives are actually
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met, and that if the goals and objectives aren’t met, that the pro-
gram be either altered or eliminated.

Mr. MICA. How many people do we have administering this pro-
gram?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Approximately 25, sir.
Mr. MICA. That is the total in Washington?
Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. OK. You gave some statistics. It was interesting the

way they were presented, and I am not sure—maybe you could
clarify for me—you said 43 percent of the schools reported no
crime?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. Does that mean that 57 percent, more than a majority,

experienced some incident of crime?
Mr. MODZELESKI. Some incident of crime; yes, sir. I should also

say that one of the statistics—and if you would allow me, I would
love to put the 1998 report into the record.

Mr. MICA. I would be glad to do that. Without objection, so or-
dered.

[NOTE.—The 1998 Annual Report on School Safety may be found
in subcommitee files.]

Mr. MICA. Is that statistic for elementary, secondary—what
schools?

Mr. MODZELESKI. For all three levels, sir.
Mr. MICA. For all three levels.
Mr. MODZELESKI. And it also includes serious crime as well as

serious, non-violent crimes, such as theft, which is the largest
crime that occurs in schools today.

Mr. MICA. But over a majority of our schools had some reported
incident of crime?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Some incident of crime, including less serious
crimes, such as theft.

Mr. MICA. In your recommendations that are coming out tomor-
row, you talked about the law that was passed some time ago deal-
ing with guns and schools. Is there a proposal to Federalize this
as a criminal act in what is being proposed tomorrow?

Mr. MODZELESKI. No, there is not, sir.
Mr. MICA. OK. Dr. Chevez, you oversee our Substance Abuse and

Mental Health Services Administration at the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services. How much does your agency spend
annually?

Dr. CHAVEZ. I am sorry, Mr.—
Mr. MICA. What is the total budget for your agency?
Dr. CHAVEZ. Our total agency budget for SAMHSA is approxi-

mately $2.5 billion. The majority of those dollars are in block
grants for substance abuse.

Mr. MICA. My question would be—and I know you have many
worthwhile substance abuse programs—is there any way for you to
give the subcommittee an estimate of what percentage of dollars
might be directed toward the question of school violence or prob-
lems? I don’t know if that is possible, but maybe you could give us
some idea of what level of funds you think are going toward those
programs that deal with this problem?
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Dr. CHAVEZ. Mr. Chairman, I would be very happy to submit a
detailed report to you and to the committee.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, we will make that part of the
record.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. MICA. We are trying to get some handle on the dollars that
are being spent and how they are being spent. I thought you gave
some interesting statistics. You said one in five children in our
schools have serious emotional or mental health problems. Was
that—I was trying to write it down; I failed my stenograph
course—was that what you said?

Dr. CHAVEZ. That is correct, Mr. Chairman. Basically, what I
said—

Mr. MICA. And you said 60 percent are not having their mental
health or emotional problems addressed. Is that also correct?

Dr. CHAVEZ. Yes, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. One of the problems we have here is that it seems like

we have either an emotional or values or mental health problem
with students who aren’t conducting themselves in a normal fash-
ion. In fact, a very abnormal fashion. As far as correcting that, do
you have any specific recommendations? And I know there have
been proposals, that is the first part of the question. The second
part is, the question about parity as far as coverage with insur-
ance, health insurance, relating to mental health. I wonder if you
have any comments about what we should do in that regard? So,
there are two parts to the question if you could please respond.

Dr. CHAVEZ. Yes, thank you. Let me respond to the first part of
your question. What we are seeing—and I indicated that earlier—
is that children in adolescence, more and more, have a multitude
of problems, a multitude of needs, and this cuts across all segments
of society—all socio-economic groups as well as all racial and ethnic
groups. We are also seeing that we have got—as I indicated earlier,
approximately one in five children in this country that may have
a serious emotional problem and/or a behavioral problem. Most of
these children—60 percent—are not able to get the kind of services
they need. If you look at our funding, for example, our mental
health block grant under the Substance Abuse and Mental Health
Services, the block grant is targeted for those individuals and for
children who have a serious emotional problem. We don’t really
have a system in this country, for example, where parents and
teachers can turn when they see a child in the classroom or in the
home experiencing some problems, either related to depression or
anti-social behavior, unless they have insurance. If they have in-
surance, in most instances, the insurance will not cover the kind
of treatment that they may need.

Your question about parity—yes, I strongly support mental
health parity as well as substance abuse parity, because, in the
long run—and we have several studies we have done in this area
where the cost is minimal—in the long run, I believe that it is very
cost effective.

Mr. MICA. I probably agree with you. I oversaw the—in two ses-
sions of Congress, the Federal Employees with Health Benefit Pro-
gram, and I think it only cost about $18 million to provide 9 mil-
lion people with that benefit. Instead, the administration proposed
a series of mandates and regulations with no medical benefits—
that is another question; we won’t get into it at this hearing. But
I agree with your comments on parity as far as insurance and men-
tal health.
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Either of you, just a final question: Do we have in the agencies
and Departments, right now, some type of task force or some type
of activity to address what we have seen reccurring and the prob-
lems that we have? What are we doing right now in addition to—
you said you were coming forward with some recommendations—
but are we really looking at? I imagine we have studies and other
things about this, but are experts coming together and are we try-
ing to focus in on this problem? Mr. Modzeleski.

Mr. MODZELESKI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The answer is
clearly, yes. There are a variety of things happening, not only in
the Department of Education but in the Department of Justice, the
Department of Health and Human Services, and within the various
agencies within those large Departments. Both Dr. Chavez and my-
self mentioned the Safe Schools, Healthy Children Initiative. This
is a program whereby representatives from several Federal agen-
cies meet on a regular basis to look at the type of strategy and pro-
gram that is really needed to create not only safe schools but
healthy children. It is an effort and attempt to begin to combine
funds from not one agency, but funds from three agencies, in the
development of a comprehensive program designed to create safe
schools. So, its front end is on the prevention side.

Also, and again, I hope that Dr. Dwyer, later, talks about the
Early Warning Guide, because we have been working collabo-
ratively with the Department of Justice, with the National Associa-
tion of School Psychologists, and with a host of other groups and
organizations to identify the front end. What prevention efforts are
needed? What happens when you identify a child who has some
problems in school? Where do you refer that particular child? How
do you refer them? So, there are some efforts on the prevention
side.

Last, in the crisis or the response, what happens when a Little-
ton does occur, when a Springfield does occur? In the fiscal year
2000 budget for the Department of Education, there is $12 million
in there that would basically set up a revolving fund to help
schools recover from such disasters.

And, in my testimony, we outlined a whole series of prevention
and early intervention activities that we are engaged in. I am sure
that Dr. Chavez is engaged in a whole group of other activities. I
just want to say that these are not activities that we, alone, are
engaged in; this is a partnership. We have got to continue to look
at this as a partnership working collegially and cooperatively with
other agencies in the Federal Government.

Mr. MICA. Dr. Chavez.
Dr. CHAVEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We are working in sev-

eral areas. One, we have a prevention roundtable that has been es-
tablished by Dr. Karol Kumpfer, the Director of our Center for Sub-
stance Abuse Prevention. Basically, what they are doing is working
with not only agencies within the Federal Government but they
have also been very, very much involved in a coalition throughout
the United States, the Prevention Coalition.

In addition to that, we have been very much involved, through
our Center for Mental Health Services, in the incidents that have
occurred in Colorado as well as those in other communities.
Through the work of Dr. Arons and many of the other Federal
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agencies, including working very closely with Mr. Modzeleski, we
have been addressing the issue. In fact, I want to say that we had
begun working on this long before this incident happened in Little-
ton. In the project I described earlier where we brought in all the
three major Federal agencies on that one project, that didn’t evolve,
in terms of the idea, from the Federal people; this was after having
focus groups with teachers, principals, students, and people
throughout the country. I think it is very important that we must
listen to what our young people are saying in terms of some of the
things they are feeling, some of the things they see as solutions to
these problems.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. I would like to yield now to our ranking
member, Mrs. Mink.

Mrs. MINK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to ask unani-
mous consent that we be allowed to submit written questions to all
of the witnesses today.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered, and we will leave the
record open for at least 2 weeks.

Mrs. MINK. Two weeks, fine. Because there are so many ques-
tions on my mind that I think are relevant to this inquiry regard-
ing violence.

What strikes me as being the most provocative of all the ques-
tions relating to the Columbine High School situation is the fact
that most of the witnesses that were interviewed following that in-
cident stated that there was no drug abuse, no drugs evident in the
two young people. Nor was there, in terms of the teachers and
school principal and other officials that had contact with the two,
any indication that something like this was part of their intention.
Other than what was discovered after the fact on their website and
in various e-mails, there was no sign.

I am also struck by your statement, Dr. Modzeleski, that in 90
percent of the schools, there were really no reports of serious vio-
lent crimes, that we are talking about 10 percent of the schools
where these incidents happen. With the assets that the Congress
has provided you in this area of safe schools—the drug issue is sep-
arate, because I think that sometimes in the past we have con-
centrated our effort on the drug abuse issue. Today, we are trying
to see what we have done in the safe schools issue, if we can sepa-
rate it out, and what I wanted to ask both of you is, of all the
grants, the programs that you have authorized, the funding that
you have allowed the State and local agencies to use, which, in
your opinion, have been the most productive in responding to the
type of situation that we found at Columbine?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Let me say that Jefferson County in Colorado
is the largest school district in Colorado; therefore, it receives the
most Safe and Drug Free Schools dollars. It receives more Safe and
Drug Free Schools than any other school district in Colorado.

Mrs. MINK. How much would that be?
Mr. MODZELESKI. I will get that for you, Madam Vice Chairman.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. MODZELESKI. I spent a couple days out in Littleton shortly
after the disaster trying to work through some mental health crisis
issues with them and trying to ensure that they had staff on board
to help reopen the school shortly after it happened. I was struck
by the fact that Jefferson County has one of the better Safe and
Drug Free Schools Programs in the State, not only in the State, I
think in country; very diligent—

Mrs. MINK. What did it do that you found better than others?
Mr. MODZELESKI. First of all, I think it really made an attempt

to connect children to institutions, connect children to schools. To
identify those children who are at risk of alcohol and drug use, and
really provide them with the services and support necessary to help
them along the path. I would also say that while this is a hearing
on school safety and school crime, I don’t think we could decouple
the issues of alcohol and drug use from school safety. Many of the
risk factors inherent in alcohol and drug use are the same risk fac-
tors inherent in violent behavior. I think we really need to find a
better way at the local agencies to deal with both issues and not
segregate the issues out. I think the fear that we have is that if
you begin to segregate the issues out, schools will focus only on one
issue and that is the issue of school safety to the disregard of the
other issue, which is alcohol and drug use when in many ways they
are linked together. We really need to find a way to get schools to
think about what the risk factors are that children possess, and
what are the protective factors that we can instill in schools, in
communities, and in homes that really protect against violence,
drug use, and other types of behavior which are unacceptable?

So, again, the issue of the dollars that local education agencies
receive are flexible dollars. The community really has a decision
whether they want to put those moneys into conflict resolution,
afterschool programs, peer mentoring programs, teen court pro-
grams, hiring of law enforcement officials, more metal detectors.
Hopefully, those decisions are not made in a vacuum and hopefully
those decisions are made with the help and support of teachers,
parents, administrators, and students, themselves.

Mrs. MINK. Dr. Chavez.
Dr. CHAVEZ. Thank you, Congresswoman—
Mrs. MINK. Before you answer, how much of your funding actu-

ally is directed to school situations, school-based situations, other
than the general issue of substance abuse and mental health?

Dr. CHAVEZ. Right now, we have $40 million that we are direct-
ing to school violence, but, as I said earlier, we have other dollars,
as well, but I do not have the breakdown. The majority of our
funding—

Mrs. MINK. Out of $2.5 billion, only $40 million to schools?
Dr. CHAVEZ. $40 million, that is correct. We have block grants,

which is a substantial amount of money, but, again, as Bill indi-
cated with their block grant, our block grant goes directly to the
State. Once it reaches the State, the State makes the decisions—

Mrs. MINK. How much of that State money is directed to the
school-age population?

Dr. CHAVEZ. This is information that we do not have available.
When the State receives those dollars, they are free, in terms of the
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flexibility of the block grant, to expend those dollars based on serv-
ices that they—

Mrs. MINK. There is no requirement to report back or any re-
quirement for accountability for funding?

Dr. CHAVEZ. The requirement to report back is a financial re-
quirement, it is a fiscal requirement, which they do submit on an
annual basis, as the expenditures. In terms of whether the pro-
grams have been effective or not, they are not required to report
that. However, under our reauthorization, one of the things we are
asking for is that the block grants be based on performance meas-
ures, so that we will be—

Mrs. MINK. My question is not really on effectiveness or how ef-
fective or appropriate or whatever; it is just an accounting question
as to whether the funds that are block granted to States are going
to the schools and school-age children?

Dr. CHAVEZ. The States are required to submit financial informa-
tion on how they expend those Federal dollars in relation to sub-
stance abuse, treatment, prevention, and mental health.

Mrs. MINK. So, you don’t really know who the end user is?
Dr. CHAVEZ. If the State reports that information as part of their

application, then, yes, we do, but in terms of being able to answer
the question: Do we know what percent of those dollars the State
is spending through their block grant on school violence? No, I do
not have that answer. We will try and get that answer for you, but,
again, this is something that we would have to go—it is not in our
statute in terms of those kinds of things that we are required to
ask the States, again, because of the flexibility that is there.

Mrs. MINK. One final question, if I may have this—even though
the red light is on. Under mental health services, are any of your
funds directed to deal with the children in the category that the
Education Department deals with under IDEA?

Dr. CHAVEZ. In our Center for Mental Health Services, we have
an appropriation of approximately $78 million for children’s mental
health, to provide comprehensive mental health services in commu-
nities for children that are seriously mentally ill. The requirement,
in terms of communities that are eligible to apply for this discre-
tionary funding, is that they must develop a plan that includes the
schools, the juvenile justice system, and other social service agen-
cies.

In the 6 years that this program has been in operation, we have
very positive outcomes to report. For example, children that are
part of this system have improved mentally in terms of their school
attendance, but also we have seen a reduction in the number of
children that have been institutionalized. Consequently, there have
been some dramatic savings to many of the communities in terms
of foster care, et cetera. So, yes, there is a direct relationship in
terms of our children’s mental health in working closely with the
schools. However, I must emphasize that the children that are eli-
gible for this program must be children that have been diagnosed
as seriously mentally ill.

Mrs. MINK. Thank you.
Mr. MICA. Thank you. I would like to yield now to the gentleman

from Indiana, Mr. Souder.
Mr. SOUDER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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First, I would like unanimous consent to put this chart in from
ONDCP regarding marijuana use being related to delinquent be-
havior and also aggressive behavior.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. SOUDER. Clearly, not every case of every shooting in the

country has drugs or alcohol involved. But, as we heard from Dr.
Kingly over in the Education Committee yesterday, it is clearly—
while not everybody who is on drugs carries a gun to school—it is
the best predictor of whether or not somebody is going to bring
guns to school. If, indeed, they started their drug abuse at an early
age or it is frequent, the odds soar and I think you are absolutely
right that they are interconnected.

I have a series of questions, and, hopefully, Mr. Modzeleski, as
we work through the Drug Free and Safe Schools section in the El-
ementary and Secondary Education Act, we can work together with
some of the details on targeting. You had some suggestions here on
specific things that you would like the States to submit, and I
would like to do some followup with that.

I want to make sure in my time here that I can pursue a ques-
tion that has come up in a number of other areas, including our
juvenile justice, that I am concerned about. It is troubling to me,
from my religious perspective, how some of the difficult moral ques-
tions are being handled right now in trying to address the question
of hate crimes. Not only have we seen, in some of these schools, ac-
tual persecution and shooting of kids because of their religious
views, I am wondering whether or not you would have any objec-
tion if we continue to push to try to expand the definition to in-
clude those who have strong moral views. In particular, what I
want to pursue here is the difficulty of how to do conflict resolution
and reducing the tension where kids make judgments about others
that lead to both verbal or physical assault and then how not to,
in effect, offend the religious beliefs that are deeply held of other
people.

In particular, in this report, Preventing Youth Hate Crimes, in
the back of this, you refer to a number of webpages. The only State
webpage referred to in this booklet is Washington, in that program,
in part four on hate crimes, which you held up—you have a dis-
claimer saying you don’t agree with everything in each one. At the
same time, this is the only State one held up—this says what is
age appropriate at the elementary school level? And this clause
says, ‘‘A gay man is someone who loves another man best of all.
A lesbian woman is someone who loves another woman best of all.
Heterosexuals are people whose dearest love is of the other sex.
People are bisexual if they sometimes fall in love with a woman
and sometimes with a man.’’ And then, underlined, ‘‘people who
have always felt as if they were in the body of the wrong sex are
called transsexual. Some transsexual kids grow up and get sex
change operations and some don’t.’’

Now, the problem here is that many of us who have deeply held
moral views do not want—and part of the reason there is a public
reaction against public schools—and my kids have been in public
schools; I have gone through public schools; I still have kids in the
public schools—but this is the type of thing that would drive me
to pull out. If I found that my fifth grader—because this says ele-

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00055 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



52

mentary school level—is being taught an amoral approach to
transsexual sex change operations rather than what I believe hate
crimes should be—it is something more like this: whether you feel
someone’s behavioral or sexual preference is right or wrong, you
don’t have the right to verbally assault them, verbally offend them,
physically assault them, because what is offensive is taking your
personal views out on somebody else.

That is the problem here, but in trying to teach tolerance, we
are, in effect, taking a neutral view on the behavior which is, in
effect, counter to what their parents or their church is teaching.

Furthermore, they can be taught that they are intolerant and
kids become intolerant of them, because they are merely stating
their view of what is right and wrong and what they have been
taught by their families. And, in fact, tolerance goes both direc-
tions. What is intolerable is to have you take offensive behavior, in-
sulting behavior, or things that restrict other people as opposed to
having those beliefs, and this type of thing is expanding, and it is
particularly discouraging to me that it is expanding under pro-
grams that, while they have good goals, in fact, are very offensive
not only to me, personally—and it is offensive to me, personally. I
am not claiming this on behalf of other people; it is offensive to me
as a parent and as a christian, but also many, many parents are
voting with their feet and moving out of the schools because of this
type of thing, and I would like to hear some of your responses. This
is a difficult question.

Mr. MODZELESKI. It is a very difficult question, Congressman.
Thank you, and I appreciate your comments. As you stated, and I
would agree 100 percent, this is a very, very difficult question that
we are dealing with.

Also, the Department of Justice, the administration is moving
forward with a bill which would expand hate crimes legislation to
cover issues such as you have mentioned regarding tolerance for
sexual behavior. So, that is going down on different track. But,
clearly, I think that in schools we have to be tolerant of people who
are different in any way, and I think that covers a broad definition
of hate crimes, tolerance because people are of a different race; tol-
erance of people who may be of a different religion; tolerance be-
cause they have different sexual beliefs or identities. I think that
tolerance covers a broad range of issues, and we should be teaching
tolerance—and this just isn’t in school; I mean, basically, broadly
speaking about tolerance.

I am a little bit—I guess I am a little bit confused that if we did
not teach tolerance about this particular issue, what would we be
doing in public schools? Should we be teaching children not to be
tolerant of somebody who expresses a different sexual belief? We
would be willing to work with you on that, but this is a very, very
difficult position.

We also clearly understand from data that has been submitted
and collected by the Department of Justice that the whole issue of
sexual identity and differences in sexual identity does lead to
fights, does lead to victimization on the part of those individuals
who have different sexual identities, and we have to deal with the
entire student body.
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Mr. SOUDER. But why do you stress—when there are deep dif-
ferences of opinions on something—why do you stress—because the
word ‘‘tolerance’’ here is actually used as almost an attitude-chang-
ing question as opposed to tolerance in the sense of different people
are allowed to live together even if they are wrong. In other words,
part of free speech in America says that even someone who, if they
don’t advocate violent action as a Nazi or a Communist, we let
them speak, but it doesn’t mean we have to say that tolerance
means that their behavior is OK.

I am not asking the schools to say that homosexual behavior or
transsexual operations or bisexual behavior is wrong; I am merely
trying to say that they shouldn’t be taking the position that it is
normal either. In other words, what schools should be teaching in
tolerance is that whatever that person’s position is, you don’t have
a right to go verbally assaulting them, making fun of them, phys-
ically assaulting them. But to then tell them ‘‘Oh, that is because
some people choose this and that’’ is entering into another realm
of it, and that is moral teaching.

Mr. MODZELESKI. I see what you mean.
Mr. SOUDER. And that is what a lot of us are troubled about. We

are trying to get to that, because I may have a strong view, but
I am not going to—I believe it is just as offensive to my belief to
persecute, to mock, to do any of that type of thing.

Mr. MODZELESKI. It was not the intention of that manual to do
that, Mr. Souder, not at all. It was basically, I think, to expand the
whole issue, as you mentioned, of tolerant views toward people, be-
cause they may be different.

Mr. SOUDER. Then we need to then work—because one of the ex-
tensions of this argument is, because you very eloquently pointed
out, kids are made fun of. There is no question that any sort of dif-
ference from the norm is harassed in school, whether you are short,
whether you don’t have designer clothes, and so on. What I am try-
ing to encourage here is, as we look at the manuals and try to do
tolerance, that what we try to say is, we are not really going to
radically change that kids are going to torment each other in the
sense of changing, undergirding, things of normative behavior and
that we are not going to make everybody the same size and so on.
What we ought to teach them is regardless—what we have to teach
in tolerance is that in this country everybody is here. It doesn’t
mean we have to accept everybody’s behavior, but we have to learn
to live together, which is a different goal, quite frankly, than much
of what is in here, which is trying to change the attitude under-
neath that says whether a behavior is right or wrong, which is
really not the business of the school. It is the business of the par-
ents and the church. What you want to teach is how to live to-
gether so we don’t become like the Balkans, and I would like to
work with that.

And I know I went over the 5-minutes, but I have a series of de-
tailed questions on the drug issue and stuff, because we are looking
at whether to separate some of the Safe and Drug Free Schools,
whether we should drive the grants—some of the problems with
these school grants is they are so small when we get to a given
school, I want to look at some creative ways as we are going
through—
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Mr. MODZELESKI. And we would love to do that and work with
you, Mr. Souder, on that issue, and the bill that will be coming for-
ward to you very shortly expresses the administration views, but,
as I say, we are open to working with you. Thank you.

Mr. MICA. Those questions will be made part of the record, with-
out objection.

I am pleased now to recognize the gentleman from Maryland, Mr.
Cummings.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I want to
thank the witnesses for being here today. I have just listened to
Mr. Souder, and I am thinking about tolerance and looking at this
annual report on school safety, which was prepared jointly by the
Departments of Justice and Education, and it is very interesting,
and I just wanted to know your views on this—I am sure you are
familiar with it, Dr.—

Mr. MODZELESKI. Mr. Modzeleski.
Mr. CUMMINGS. Modzeleski. It says, under the category of creat-

ing a climate of tolerance, it says, ‘‘fostering and maintaining a safe
learning environment means creating a climate of tolerance in
which all students are comfortable and secure, particularly in ado-
lescents who have strong needs to be accepted by their peers. How-
ever, because of stereotypes, ignorance, and intolerance, certain in-
dividuals and groups tend to be alienated from their fellow stu-
dents. A source of conflict in many schools is the perceived or real
problem of bias and unfair treatment of students because of eth-
nicity, gender, race, social class, religion, disability, nationality,
sexual orientation, physical appearance, or some other factor both
by staff and peers. Schools can encourage students to be more ac-
cepting of diversity through schoolwide awareness campaigns, poli-
cies which prevent harassment and discrimination, and offering
support groups.’’

How do you feel about that?
Mr. MODZELESKI. Supportive, fully.
Mr. CUMMINGS. I do too.
Let me go to something that is just—first of all, I want to thank

you, Mr. Chairman, for having this hearing and certainly our rank-
ing member.

I would venture to guess in my district, which is the inner city
of Baltimore, there are probably somewhere in the area of 50 to 75
black kids who are shot dead every year, every year; probably more
than that—teenagers, students not in school. And, you know, when
I look at the Columbine thing, I have a lot of sympathy, I really
do; it is wrenching, and it shocks the conscience. And when I go
in my neighborhoods and I talk to my constituents, they say, ‘‘I
wish somebody would scream and have it on national—inter-
national TV for our children and the funerals that we go to and the
coffins that we have to buy. We wish that someone would send
somebody into our schools, too, who can deal with the grief and the
pain.’’ And this is every year.

And, so I look here at—I was listening to Mr. Souder, and I
started thinking about some of the things that he talked about, and
I just find it very interesting when we are talking about—the state-
ment that I read talks about alien Nation. When these young men
at Columbine—when they did their little research on these kill-
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ers—and, by the way, these are our children, still. They once
played hopscotch and hide and go seek this is just a few years
later. They said one of the problems with these guys is they felt
alienated. They felt like they weren’t a part of anything. They also
suffered from something that is very, very unfortunate about our
society—they were racist. They hunted down that little black boy
and killed him, because he was black. They had a problem with
jocks; people who apparently tried to be good guys, good students,
probably good student government guys and girls—they wanted to
kill them. And then we talk about gun control; we talk about these
factors.

There is a lot that goes into what happened there, and I don’t
think it is easy to solve this problem. We have in our society where
we don’t have the Father Knows Best society anymore—where
mamma and daddy are at home, where mamma’s at home; daddy
works, comes home at 5 o’clock—it is not that way anymore. You
have parents who are struggling trying to make it, both in neigh-
borhoods like Columbine and in the inner city of Baltimore. Only
in the inner city of Baltimore, usually, there is only one parent or
some grandparents that are barely making it.

And, so that leads me to this: we have a school—and I invite you
to come to the school with me—called Walbrook High School in
Baltimore, which is located in the inner city where when everybody
was running around putting up all these metal detectors, they were
taking them down.

Let me tell you about the principles, this is a young principal
who is about 40 years old. His name is Andrey Bundley, and, Mr.
Chairman, I invite you have him come speak to us, because he got
it; he gets it. What he has done is decided that it did not make
sense to distrust his students. This is an all black school—he said,
‘‘Look, we are going to create an environment of love, excellence,
respect, and humanity.’’ And, so he told the students, ‘‘Look, if
somebody brought a gun into your house, what would you do?’’ All
the students said, ‘‘We would do something. We would make sure
that mamma or somebody knew that there was a gun in the
house.’’ He said, ‘‘Well, this is your house. This school is your
house. You spend almost as much as time in this school as you do
your house.’’ So, there is no such thing in this school as a snitch,
because they get it. They get that they are trying to protect their
house. Most of their friends are in that school. They spend a lot of
time there. The school is basically a major part of their life. So,
that is No. 1.

They don’t have any discipline problems at this school. Why? Be-
cause they get it. And they have done something else, they make
sure that everybody understands that no matter what they are or
who they are, as long as they go by the rules, they are part of an
entire body. I am not going to alienate you because you are not a
jock. I am not going to alienate you because you do this or you do
that; we are all a part, and it is creating an atmosphere. But did
CBS News do anything on them? No.

All of the periodicals that I have seen on education here lately,
all I am seeing over and over again on education is how can we
buy more metal detectors? That is what you are hearing. The guy
was on the CBS News—on the news station last night, one of the
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national news stations, he said, I can’t—the owner of one of these
metal detector companies said, ‘‘I can’t keep up with the orders.’’

Some kind of way we have got to get back to something called
parenting. That is what it is all about—parenting, making children
feel like they are part—sometimes I think what happens is that
we, as adults, forget what it is like to be a child. We get so busy
legislating and doing all of this that we forget the faces of children
and how children view life; how they feel when they are 13 years
old and they are fat and they are being left out of the baseball
games or they are not a part of it or they are not a part of any
organization, because there is no organization to be a part of.

And, so some kind of way, I think that when we begin to look
at these solutions, I want you to come to Walbrook High School.
Maybe we will get some cameras to watch these wonderful, beau-
tiful, brilliant children as they come in and out of school feeling
safe. Because they know that they care about each other, and they
are not being biased or discriminating or alienating each other.
They have a principal who understands that some kind of way if
they are not getting it on the outside of school, he is trying to give
it to them on the inside of the school, and, guess what? What he
has discovered is that when they get it on the inside of the school,
they then take it out, back to their homes, and they are able to
teach, sometimes, their parents how to have this human element
that we are all one; we are all human beings, and we are all in
this world together. So, I invite you. I said all of that to give you
an invitation.

Mr. MODZELESKI. I would be delighted to take your invitation.
Mr. CUMMINGS. Well, I want you to do it soon, because the school

year—
Mr. MODZELESKI. Well, the school gets out—we will do it in the

next couple of weeks, I assure you.
Mr. CUMMINGS. Because the school year is getting ready to end,

and I am giving them an award, it is an award, and we all need
to do this—it is called the U-Turn Award. We are giving this, be-
cause I think we need to begin to highlight the great things about
our children instead of concentrating on the negative.

There are schools that are doing it right, and that is another sug-
gestion is that we do more of that. If things are working some-
where where there are good parent relationships with schools and
whatever, we need to highlight those situations instead of getting
in this total war mentality, ‘‘Oh, I have got to watch out, and who
is going to come in with a gun?’’ I am not saying that we don’t need
to do those kinds of things, but we also need to be moving more
toward those schools that are doing it right. And, according to the
chairman, when he asked you a few questions, there are apparently
some schools—they may not be in the majority, but it sounds like
they may very well be—who are doing it right.

Mr. MODZELESKI. There are.
Mr. CUMMINGS. And, so, hopefully, we can highlight more of

them so that we can move to that, because these are still our kids;
they are our children. They come from all kinds of families; they
have all kinds of problems; they are dealing with things that most
of us never dealt with when we were coming up, and so I want to
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thank you for taking me up on my invitation, and I am going to—
we will followup as soon as the hearing is over.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. Thank the gentleman from Maryland.
I now recognize the gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr. Tierney.
Mr. TIERNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me followup on that for a second, because I thought that was

interesting. Does the Department of Education do anything in
terms of identifying best practices when it comes to—I use the
word ‘‘discipline,’’ because that is one that I saw in your remarks,
sir, but I think it is better stated here probably as ‘‘attitude?’’ Do
you go out and find schools that have somehow put together the
proper atmosphere or environment and get those as best practices;
find out how they do it and make that information available to
other schools?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Yes, we do. Let me just say, if I can take 30
seconds out and comment on Congressman Cummings, because I
do believe that an overwhelming majority—

Mr. TIERNEY. You are going to take my time to answer his ques-
tion?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Well, because this gets to your point, too,
Congressman—

Mr. TIERNEY. I am only kidding; go ahead.
Mr. MODZELESKI [continuing]. Because an overwhelming majority

of students in this country are good students. An overwhelming
majority of students in this country don’t engage in crime. The
overwhelming majority of students in this country really are trying
to do a good job, and I think that we need to do a better job identi-
fying those students, identifying those schools, identifying those
practices, and publishing and rewarding those kids.

Now, what do we do? We do a couple of things. One is, we have
a Drug Free Schools Recognition Program. This is a program where
we go out on a national basis and try to identify schools that have
exemplary drug prevention and violence prevention programs. We
just finished a competition about 3 weeks ago. Those programs
were site visited by fellow principals and teachers throughout the
country, and the results of that should be available within approxi-
mately a month.

Now, I will tell you that while we are moving in that direction
and while there are schools that are promising—they have great
drug prevention and great violence prevention programs—we are
not doing enough; we are not getting enough. We need to do a bet-
ter job in identifying the schools that are doing a good job, because
we have over 15,000 school districts, over 100,000 schools in this
country, and we are scratching the surface on which schools are
doing a good job.

No. 2 is that we also have a panel called the expert panel, which
is not looking at schools, which is looking at programs—drug pre-
vention and violence prevention programs—setting up objective cri-
teria by which to measure those programs, and identifying which
programs meet that criteria from a research-based perspective. So,
we will have, by the end of this summer, a list of both what we
call promising as well as exemplary programs.

Mr. TIERNEY. And you will disseminate that?
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Mr. MODZELESKI. We will disseminate it widely. I mean, again,
this gets back to the whole issue of accountability of the program,
the whole issue of improving the quality of the program. We have
to, we have a responsibility of identifying good schools, of identify-
ing best practices, and getting that information out to as many
schools as possible.

Mr. TIERNEY. In your remarks, at least your written remarks, it
was indicated that even a bigger problem than crime or violence,
really, is discipline in schools. Is there a Federal role at all that
touches on that or where do you think that appropriately gets ad-
dressed and how?

Mr. MODZELESKI. It is hard to measure in an issue of magnitude
which is greater, which affects the learning environment? And I
think that as we look at the data, clearly, more schools have dis-
cipline problems than have crime problems. More schools have dis-
cipline problems on a regular basis. More schools have a few indi-
viduals who upset what goes on in the learning environment on a
regular basis, which are not criminal incidents but disciplinary
problems.

In the revised, or I should say, in the proposal, the administra-
tion’s proposal for revision of the Elementary and Secondary
Schools Act, in title XI, there is a school discipline issue where we
talk about all schools receiving elementary and secondary schools
funds shall develop strong, sound school discipline policies—and
getting back to a point—it also clearly states that these discipline
policies shall be enforced equitably, because very often they are not
enforced equitably.

So, it is not only the establishment of sound discipline policies,
because I harken to say that about 100 percent of schools in this
country today have discipline policies, but we need to do a better
job examining those policies; getting students and teachers in-
volved in the development of those policies, and equitably enforcing
those policies.

Mr. TIERNEY. Well, in your Safe Schools, Healthy Student Initia-
tive, you note that the grants are going to be—the applications are
going to be taken as early as June 1st. Has that been broadly no-
ticed to the world here?

Mr. MODZELESKI. It has been broadly noticed to the world. We
are just completing a series of six audio conferences whereby we
are answering questions from the field. The announcement of that
particular program is on our website; it is on Dr. Chavez’ website;
it is on the Department of Justice website. You have mailings that
are going out from the Department of Education, the Department
of Health and Human Services as well as the Department of Jus-
tice. There has been an overwhelming response to this particular
program.

Mr. TIERNEY. What was the basis of the six criteria that you said
in order to have a plan qualify as comprehensive? Was that re-
search? Was that—

Mr. MODZELESKI. It was really a careful examination of a lot of
research which exists. I am sure we could probably expand that a
little bit more, but one of the issues that we run into is that this
is the first time where we have combined a substantial amount of
funding into one partner trying to manage this program with one
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application. And what we are saying to school districts, both subur-
ban, rural, and Indian tribes, is that we want you to submit one
application—one application for mental health services, for early
childhood development, for school security programs, for a series of
programs and activities. And, really, what we are providing is a
continuum of services along a broad range starting with early
childhood development and ending up with a referral to mental
health services if that is found to be necessary.

Mr. TIERNEY. It is obviously going to mean that some of these
schools are going to have to bring on new personnel, particularly
in the counseling area. How do schools deal with the added expense
that is going to entail?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Dr. Chavez mentioned—and I don’t want to get
into her venue—that there was $40 million of SAMHSA dollars
which are going for mental health services for schools; $25 million
of that is in this overall pot. So, there will be money in this overall
pot for mental health services.

Mr. TIERNEY. And let me just finish, because I know the red light
is on—I was struck by the figures that 82, almost 83 percent of the
victims are males, and 95.6 percent of the offenders in violent situ-
ations are males. What are we doing to focus in on that aspect of
this problem?

Mr. MODZELESKI. This gets back to a whole lot of issues. It gets
back to the issue of really looking at this from a very broad-based
perspective. The figures and the data you have there are from the
1992–1993, 1993–1994 school years. The data from the last 2
school years are still coming in. We don’t know whether it is going
to be different or not. I don’t think the data for school crime are
much different from the data from overall crime. We do know that
young males are the most frequent purveyors of crime and violence,
and what we are really trying to do is get schools to have a better
understanding, through assessment processes, as to who some of
these individuals are and then to provide them with appropriate
services.

Some of this gets back to the mental health side where Dr. Cha-
vez’ organization is involved. Some of this you will hear in the, I
think, the last panel where Dr. Dwyer talks about the early warn-
ing signs; identifying those students who may be at risk of prob-
lems and, without doing any harm to those individuals, making re-
ferrals to appropriate services in the community.

Mr. TIERNEY. Thank you very much.
Mr. MICA. I thank the gentleman.
Now, I would like to recognize the gentleman from Arkansas, Mr.

Hutchinson.
Mr. HUTCHINSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and, hopefully, I

won’t take the entire allotted time, but I did have one area of in-
quiry.

Dr. Chavez, I was reading the introductory information that has
been provided. It is my understanding that your agency, the Sub-
stance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, has a
staff of approximately 600? Is that correct?

Dr. CHAVEZ. That is correct.
Mr. HUTCHINSON. And that your agency was created in 1992?
Dr. CHAVEZ. That is correct.
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Mr. HUTCHINSON. And, so, obviously, you had zero employees in
1992, and there are 600 now, and the responsibility is to admin-
ister a Federal Block Grant Program to the States?

Dr. CHAVEZ. That is one of our responsibilities.
Mr. HUTCHINSON. And a Federal block grant—I mean, the whole

idea of a block grant is that it is passed along to the State without
extraordinary Federal strings? Is that correct?

Dr. CHAVEZ. Well, it is a little bit more than that, but—can I cor-
rect something? Although we were created as a separate agency in
1992, SAMHSA’s activities had been part of ADAMHA, which pro-
vided alcohol, drug, and mental health services. In 1992, the Con-
gress decided to take NIDA, NIAAA, NIMH and put it under NIH
and take the, at that time, the prevention, the treatment, and the
mental health services programs that were within ADAMHA and
create a separate agency’s AMHSA. The primary focus was on the
service part and looking at the development and the implementa-
tion of the research.

Mr. HUTCHINSON. How has the staff level grown in recent years?
Dr. CHAVEZ. Actually, that is a very good question, because it has

not grown. In fact, right now, we are having tremendous problems
in terms of trying to administer many of the programs because of
a reduction in our work force.

Mr. HUTCHINSON. Well, in 1992, obviously, you didn’t exist prior
to 1992. You were created in 1992, and you are saying that a num-
ber of different programs were combined? Is that correct?

Dr. CHAVEZ. That is correct. A number of programs were com-
bined, and in the combination of those programs that created
SAMHSA, many of those employees worked for NIMH; many of
them worked for NIDA and NIAAA.

Mr. HUTCHINSON. How many did you start with in 1992, with a
combination of those programs versus the 600 today?

Dr. CHAVEZ. I believe it was about 700 in 1992.
Mr. HUTCHINSON. Could you get me the information on that?
Dr. CHAVEZ. I certainly can.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. HUTCHINSON. I know I am catching you cold on that, per-
haps, and I would like to have an organizational chart for your
present circumstance and then compare that to 1992. I mean, you
ought to be applauded if you combined front office functions and re-
duced the number of employees, but it is still—I mean, I just don’t
understand, quite frankly. Six hundred employees sounds like an
extraordinary number to administer a Block Grant Program, and
I understand you have other responsibilities, but I either need to
be educated or we need to look at it very closely. It seems like
there is a lot of the money that should be going to the States to
support these programs that is consumed at the staff level, the ad-
ministrative level.

Dr. CHAVEZ. Yes, I would be very happy to provide that informa-
tion for you, and I would like to also mention that in 1996—in look-
ing at SAMHSA and some of the programs there, we reduced from
22 offices in the administrative area to 7 offices, and that was
working very closely with Chairman Porter. So, we do have all that
information; we will be very happy to supply you with that, be-
cause, as I indicated earlier, while 600 may seem a lot if you are
just looking at a block grant, there are many other responsibilities
that are a part of that. So, I would be very happy to submit that.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. HUTCHINSON. I will look forward to that information.
Dr. CHAVEZ. Thank you.
With that, Mr. Chairman, I yield back.
Mr. MICA. Thank the gentleman.
Now, I would like to recognize the gentleman from Georgia, Mr.

Barr.
Mr. BARR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Modzeleski, in your written remarks here—and I think I

have been informed also in your oral comments—you talk about the
role of FEMA, the Federal Emergency Management Agency. What
do they have to do with this?

Mr. MODZELESKI. We have been working with the Federal Emer-
gency Management Association on trying to develop a response, a
FEMA-like response to crises such as occurred in Springfield, Pa-
ducah, Pearl. These are crises which are not Presidentially de-
clared disasters but nevertheless affect the school system, and
what we are trying to do is develop a response to enable those
school systems to recover from rather tragic—

Mr. BARR. And you think you can do this by studying how the
Government responds to tornados? I mean, isn’t dealing with the
causes of violence in our schools, our families, our communities,
and our businesses somewhat different from dealing with natural
disasters?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Well, the answer—yes, we do think we can re-
solve this by looking at how a Government agency responds to tor-
nados.

Mr. BARR. Well, then maybe that is why we are not meeting tre-
mendous success. Maybe you ought to look at this as a people prob-
lem, not as a natural disaster problem.

Mr. MODZELESKI. Let me explain, the FEMA-like response is not
related to the prevention aspect. This is a very small part.

Mr. BARR. I know.
Mr. MODZELESKI. This is the after effects.
Mr. BARR. FEMA is not a responsive aid. They are not a preven-

tive agency; you are.
Mr. MODZELESKI. Each of the districts—
Mr. BARR. What does FEMA have to do with trying to resolve

problems of violence in our schools?
Mr. MODZELESKI. We are basically looking at how FEMA re-

sponds to crises, how FEMA responds to disasters. Each one of the
disasters, be it a tornado or natural disaster or the crises such as
Springfield result in sufficient impact on the student population.

Jamon Kent who is the superintendent of schools in Springfield,
OR has said that his schools probably will not be restored to teach-
ing and learning as they were prior to the incident a year ago with-
out adequate resources and services in the area of mental health
services, mental health crisis counseling for both students and
teachers. And SERVE, the program which is in the—

Mr. BARR. Are we witnessing school violence because there aren’t
enough counselors?

Mr. MODZELESKI. We may.
Mr. BARR. Really?
Mr. MODZELESKI. We may.
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Mr. BARR. Maybe that is also why we are not seeing tremendous
success. Do you think that is—because we don’t have enough grief
counselors, that is the reason why we are seeing violence in
schools?

Mr. MODZELESKI. Well, there is a need for grief counselors and
mental health crisis counselors. I think that there has been suffi-
cient testimony between various House committees and Senate
committees where there are people, experts—much more expert
than I—that say there definitely needs to be a better interconnec-
tion and a better relationship between schools and mental health
crisis counseling, and we do need more counselors in schools.

Mr. BARR. Well, I suppose we can have a lot more counselors, but
I don’t think that is going to really get at the root problems, and,
again, my impression has always been that FEMA is a reactive
agency. After there has been a natural disaster, something over
which mankind has no control, they go in and provide assistance,
organizational skills to respond to an emergency that has already
occurred—a natural disaster. I think, perhaps, if you all started
looking at the problems of violence in our schools, not as a natural
disaster that is beyond our control and look at yourself as a reac-
tive agency, which is the model that FEMA provides and nec-
essarily has to provide, maybe we would see more success. How
many school murders committed with weapons took place in 1955?

Mr. MODZELESKI. We don’t have that information.
Mr. BARR. How about 1960?
Mr. MODZELESKI. That information is not available. If I could

just comment on the collection of data—
Mr. BARR. I mean, it is nice to go back a couple of years and say,

‘‘Gee, there are more or less of this category of violence than there
were a few years ago,’’ but I suspect that if one looks at a longer
term trend, that there might be some things that are a little bit
more revealing than just looking and trying to make the current
situation look favorable by looking at 1991 or 1992 or whatnot, and
I don’t think that the solutions are going to be terribly simplistic.

Dr. Chavez, do you have any comments on this? Do you see par-
ticular enlightenment being provided by your work through FEMA?

Dr. CHAVEZ. Mr. Barr, that was a good very question in terms
of the issues that you have raised. You are talking about the pre-
vention as being a first line of defense, and we agree that that is
very critical. However, when there are traumatic events—for exam-
ple, a traumatic event might be a tornado, hurricane, et cetera, and
the impact that has not only on children but also in terms of fami-
lies and communities, that becomes very important in terms of the
kinds of intervention that one must be involved in when there is
a traumatic event.

For example, our Center for Mental Health Services was very
much involved when Hurrican Andrew struck Miami. We have
been very much involved in many of these other FEMA-associated
incidents in that we have brought in the mental health component
after the fact for the trauma that exists. In addition to that, we
have been able to do some very effective programming in terms of
prevention.

Mr. BARR. Mr. Chairman, I recommend that your next panel in-
clude somebody from FEMA. They might be able to help us solve
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the problem of school violence. I mean, this is amazing that we look
to FEMA as the model for solving the problems of school violence.

Dr. CHAVEZ. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, may I please respond to
that if there is time?

Mr. BARR. I yield back.
Mr. MICA. The gentleman yields back.
I think we covered all the panelists. I would like to—we have

gone on for almost 2 hours with this panel or more, and I do thank
you. I think we have raised as many questions as we may have had
answered.

We will, as I said, keep the record open, without objection, for
2 weeks, and we will be submitting additional questions on some
of the programs and activities and other concerns from the mem-
bers of the panel.

So, with that, I would like to excuse both of our first two wit-
nesses in this first panel and call our second panel which are State
and local officials.

We have the Honorable Charlie Condon, attorney general of the
State of South Carolina, the Honorable Gary L. Walker, vice presi-
dent of the National District Attorneys Association, and Chief Reu-
ben Greenberg, the police chief of Charleston, SC.

As I mentioned, this is an investigations and oversight panel of
Congress. We do swear in our witnesses, which I will do in a mo-
ment. Also, if you have lengthy statements or additional informa-
tion you would like to have made part of the record, we will do
that. We would like you to try to keep your comments, if you could,
to about 5 minutes. We are running a bit behind, but we do want
everyone to have an adequate opportunity to participate.

So, with that, welcome, our three panelists. If you will remain
standing, and I will swear you in.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. MICA. Thank you, and the witnesses answered in the affirm-

ative. Welcome again, and I am pleased to recognize, first, the at-
torney general, the Honorable Charlie Condon. Welcome, and you
are recognized.

STATEMENTS OF CHARLIE CONDON, ATTORNEY GENERAL,
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA; GARY L. WALKER, VICE PRESI-
DENT, NATIONAL DISTRICT ATTORNEYS ASSOCIATION; AND
REUBEN GREENBERG, POLICE CHIEF, CHARLESTON, SC

Mr. CONDON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is certainly a pleas-
ure to be here.

I want to say, first, that I was, like I am sure you were, dis-
mayed to hear about the shootings over in Georgia, but I was
equally dismayed, really, to see the proposals that the Clinton ad-
ministration made yesterday relative to school crime. They are pro-
posing mandates and directives that I think are a recipe for disas-
ter; not that they are not good ideas. In fact, in South Carolina, we
are in the process or have already put into practice these ideas, but
to have a single cookie cutter approach from the Federal Govern-
ment, I think, will not work.

I hope I don’t get hissed out of this room, but as I am sure some
do recognize—I hope they recognize—under our system of Govern-
ment, the general government is the State government, and the
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Federal Government is supposed to be the Government of limited
power. We are a Nation of 50 general governments and 1 limited
Government, not the other way around. Each individual State pos-
sesses the power to protect the safety of its citizens, whether that
means the streets of the inner city, the neighborhoods of the sub-
urbs or the classroom or the halls of our schools.

Now, in this time when school violence is uppermost in our
minds, what we need from the Federal Government are resources
and support, not mandates and directives. In short, Washington,
DC, can no better serve as the principal of Irmo High School in
Lexington County, SC than it can walk the beat of a Charleston
Street. The problem of school crime, which affects South Carolina
differently from Florida and California, cannot be micromanaged
from Washington, DC. Indeed, within the Palmetto State, South
Carolina, different communities require different approaches. The
same cookie cutter approach by the Federal Government to the
school violence problem is most certainly a recipe for disaster.

Now what does this mean specifically with respect to school vio-
lence? I must say, I was astounded to hear some of the figures that
were bandied about by the first panel in terms of what is being
spent today. I really do want to look into how those funds are being
spent in South Carolina, particularly from what has been appro-
priated, and then from the standpoint as to what gets to the field.
I am assuming that in our State—it is a middle range population
State—we must have millions and millions of dollars annually com-
ing from the Federal Government for school safety. And I really
want to see how those are being spent.

But I do think you can help us with this: if you truly have the
block grant made—and that is, as I understand what block grants
are supposed to be, they are basically funds sent to the States to
be spent without strings attached—that will work very, very well.
We need funds to put school resource officers in every high school
and middle school in South Carolina. Most importantly, we need
Federal dollars to help us make sure that we have prosecutors both
at the State and local level to prosecute school crime.

In my view, what will work best with respect to the problem of
school crime is the one approach that has always succeeded when
we follow it, and it is this: it is tough, hard-nosed prosecutions of
those who threaten the safety of our schools. While, certainly, re-
sources, such as guidance counselors and psychologists, play an im-
portant role in assisting our students, the bottom line is that our
schools are not different from society in general. If anything,
schools, like our homes and places of worship, should be the safest
places in our society. No serious offense should go unpunished.

Now, there are and will always be certain students bound and
determined to commit serious crimes which prevent the others
from learning. I do think it is much, much worse today for a vari-
ety of other factors I want to allude to. For these offenders, the
three P’s instead of the three R’s are appropriate—prosecution,
punishment, and, when necessary, prison.

We are putting this no-nonsense approach to work in South
Carolina right now. As the chief prosecutor of my State, I have
banned plea bargaining for all serious school crimes. Every school
crime is now required to be reported to the attorney general’s of-
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fice. My office has a school crime prosecutor with strict instructions
to followup on school crimes to see that our policy of zero tolerance
is followed.

We have also implemented a program, which I have stolen from
my good friend, Chief Greenberg, to make sure that we get these
guns out of the schools in South Carolina with a toll-free tip line—
1–877-SEE A GUN. A simple concept: confidential, toll-free, with
a $100 reward for guns and explosive devices. We have in place a
youth mentoring program. We have joined with the Governor of
South Carolina, Governor Hodges, and the superintendent of edu-
cation to co-chair a State summit on school violence.

I am also a big believer in prevention, and we are implementing
a comprehensive approach to prevention strategies that are at-
tached to this testimony.

But, in short—as I am pleased to see that you have already rec-
ognized the problem to some extent—the problem of school crime
can never be solved by Washington, DC. Washington can help pro-
vide the resources and then really just get out of the way and let
us do our jobs. In the end, no government—neither Federal, State,
nor local—can alone diffuse the ticking time bomb with school vio-
lence.

As always, the willingness of every person to be responsible for
the consequences of his or her actions must serve as the founda-
tion. Each parent—I want to emphasize parent—each mother and
father, each student, each family, indeed, each citizen must take
responsibility to shatter the culture of violence which today threat-
ens our schools.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Condon follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00074 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



71

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00075 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



72

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00076 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



73

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00077 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



74

Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
I would like to recognize the Honorable Gary L. Walker, vice

president of the National District Attorneys Association.
Mr. WALKER. Good afternoon. I would like to introduce myself.

I am the elected prosecutor in Marquette County, MI. I want to
thank you on behalf of the National District Attorneys Association.

Mr. MICA. Excuse me, Mr. Walker, could you pull that mic up as
close as possible?

Mr. WALKER. OK. I want to thank you on behalf of the National
District Attorney’s Association for the opportunity to give our per-
spective on youth violence and crime in this country. I would also,
Mr. Chairman, like to enter into the record some more lengthy
written remarks.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. WALKER. And I also have for the panel some copies of the

National District Attorneys policy positions on youth crime and vio-
lence.

Mr. MICA. That also will be included, without objection.
Mr. WALKER. I have served the people in Marquette County as

their prosecutor for the last 25 years. I am currently a vice presi-
dent of NDAA, and I co-Chair the juvenile justice committee for
that association. The views I express today represent the views of
that association and of local prosecutors across the country.

So that you can place my comments in perspective, let me give
you a brief description of my jurisdiction. Marquette County is lo-
cated in Michigan’s upper peninsula on the shores of Lake Supe-
rior. It is a rural area. We have a population, according to the last
census, of approximately 70,000 people. The county encompasses
1,800 square miles, so it is a little larger than the State of Rhode
Island. We do not experience a crime rate which is comparable
with large urban areas, but juvenile crime is still a major concern.

Last year, four middle school students brought a hand gun to
school with the stated purpose of stealing a teacher’s car and driv-
ing to Canada and committing further armed robberies along the
way. Fortunately, the teacher, when confronted by the student with
a gun who demanded his car keys, disarmed him, and no one was
injured.

Last year, we had 12 students who were expelled for bringing
weapons to school campuses. Just since the tragedy in Littleton,
CO, we have experienced instances of threats made by school stu-
dents which specifically refer to that tragedy and promise similar
violence.

I can also report that my discussions with prosecutors across the
country indicate that copy cat behavior is common, if not epidemic.
Last weekend, four students, ages 12, 13, and 14, were arrested in
Port Huron, a community approximately 60 miles from Detroit.
The arrest thwarted a plan to bring weapons to a school assembly
and then open fire with the avowed purpose of creating more harm,
more death than Littleton, CO. We are all aware, of course, of the
tragedy in Atlanta last night. School violence is not simply, how-
ever, the recent tragedies that we have seen; it has been going on—
as I think several of the panel members have indicated—for some
time.
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Immediately after the incident in Columbine, our community,
law enforcement, school officials, and representatives of our local
media met to examine the situation. Unfortunately, our conclusion
is that ‘‘It can’t happen here,’’ is not a realistic appraisal. We are
attempting to put together a program designed to involve school-
children in monitoring their own behavior and that of their peers.
We hope to provide the children with a sense of ownership and con-
trol in their school environment and enlist their aid in the preven-
tion of anti-social behavior in their schools.

It is inevitable that society look for answers in the wake of these
tragedies. There is enough blame to go around—guns, music, video
games, movies, parents, schools, the Internet, and according to one
article in the Wall Street Journal, the courts are responsible. It
strikes me that there has been an obvious omission. The perpetra-
tors of these horrible crimes are responsible. Society should, and
indeed must, express a sense of moral outrage at the individuals
who committed these acts. While it is necessary to search for the
causes, we must not excuse the behavior.

‘‘I am depraved on account of I am deprived,’’ goes that song from
West Side Story. If we expect our children to become morally
grounded, it is necessary that we demand accountability for im-
moral and anti-social behavior. While we search for answers, we
must condemn in the strongest ways possible the behavior, and de-
mand individual accountability and responsibility. It is important
that we not overlook the fact that these types of violent crimes
warrant strong and swift response by our criminal justice system.

The NDAA recognizes and supports the long-standing tradition
in our country of the States adopting and managing their own
criminal laws and juvenile justice systems. We concur entirely with
the attorney general from South Carolina. Perhaps the most impor-
tant thing that the Federal Government can do in addressing juve-
nile violent crime is to provide adequate funding for programs
aimed at crime prevention.

The NDAA believes very strongly that funding proven crime pre-
vention initiatives is necessary. Programs proven to keep kids from
becoming criminals in the first place are some of the most powerful
weapons in law enforcement’s arsenal against crime. Such pro-
grams include those aimed at providing early child care, preventing
child abuse and neglect, and ensuring that the quality of child care
in afterschool activities is available for America’s youth.

The importance of those programs and their role in reducing
criminal behavior is supported by scientific research. We must do
everything we can in society to promote the positive assets of our
youth. There are far more good kids in this country who are posi-
tive role models in their communities than there are delinquents.
We must mobilize these youth to promote positive assets and use
these children as resources to help us identify problem kids in the
schools and communities.

There are no simple solutions to this problem. Traditional law
enforcement efforts must continue with new tools to deal with to-
day’s violent juvenile criminals and to effectively deal with the non-
violent offenders before it is too late. Violent juvenile criminals
must be prosecuted and dealt with severely by our criminal justice
system. We must send a clear message that violence will not be tol-
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erated. However, the long-term solution requires that we step back
and look at the underlying causes of juvenile crime, and mobilize
everyone in this country to get involved and work together to ad-
dress these issues.

Thank you for permitting me to appear and to express the views
of the National District Attorneys Association.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Walker follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
I would like to recognize now Police Chief Greenberg from

Charleston, SC. Welcome, sir. You are recognized.
Mr. GREENBERG. Thank you. I want to thank the Subcommittee

on Criminal Justice, Drug Policy, and Human Resources—
Mr. MICA. Chief Greenberg, you are going to have to pull one of

those up real close. Thank you, sir.
Mr. GREENBERG. Thank you. And I want to thank the chairman

for inviting me to be present here today.
I hope, this morning, to offer a suggestion or two that will help

to address the serious and growing problem of youth violence in
our country. We are all familiar with the problems that have oc-
curred recently in Jonesboro, AR, Pearl, MS, Paducah, KT, Spring-
field, OR, Littleton, CO, and now in Georgia. These situations were
of such a massive nature and had such a devastating effect on
whole communities that almost everyone is aware of them. During
the past decade, however, significant violence has been felt in even
more communities around our country. There have been thousands
of instances where young people, especially young black men, have
been killed or seriously injured by other young men or teenagers
during altercations of one kind or another involving firearms.

While these deadly altercations have, for the most part, been on
a one-to-one basis—perpetrator and victim—the decade long and
cumulative effect of these incidents has had an even greater impact
on the everyday lives of our citizens. In many cases, there have
been victims who were not involved, and unintended victims but
who have, nonetheless, been killed or seriously injured during
these encounters. Many of the incidents have taken place in our
urban core areas whereas others, as in the case of the recent school
shootings, have occurred in suburban and rural areas.

A number of approaches designed to address these problems have
been proposed. Most of the approaches have focused on increasing
penalties for use or possession of firearms by young people. Other
approaches have targeted those who sell firearms to underage per-
sons or those who leave firearms in places where they are unrea-
sonably accessible to unauthorized persons.

There has been some degree of success achieved through these
means. We have shared in that success in Charleston where, as a
result of cooperation between school officials, law enforcement,
prosecutors, courts, and the business community, we have avoided
much of the violence that other communities have suffered.

It has become clear in our community that in order to curtail
school violence involving firearms, it is necessary to discourage peo-
ple from bringing firearms onto school property. In other words, in
order to get the guns out of the schools, it is essential to get the
people with the guns out of the schools.

The Charleston County school district has adopted a zero toler-
ance policy against guns in the school environment. The school ad-
ministration actively supports allied law enforcement efforts to rid
schools of guns and the people who possess them. The district im-
mediately suspends student violators and recommends them for ex-
pulsion. In addition, in cooperation with the local Crime Stoppers
Program, an anti-illegal gun initiative dubbed ‘‘Gun Stoppers’’ oper-
ates to provide immediate rewards to those persons who anony-

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00091 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



88

mously report the presence of firearms and the people who possess
them. Gun Stoppers provides, in many cases, immediate $100 re-
wards to persons who report illegal firearms. The money for this
program comes from three local civic-minded businessman inter-
ested in keeping firearms out of the hands of young people.

Most firearms on school grounds, and indeed other locations
where it is unlawful to possess firearms, are introduced by young
people who believe that the possession of a firearm on their person
provides them with a high level of social prestige that they can
enjoy amongst their fellow students. While these students may
sometimes claim that firearms are necessary for their safety, the
actual reason a firearm is carried to school is to obtain the peer so-
cial prestige of being tough and fearsome. In order to appear tough
and fearsome, they believe it necessary to show off their firearm as
often as possible. The more often the firearm is displayed, the more
prestige accrues to the person possessing the gun.

The Gun Stoppers Program offers a $100 reward in order to re-
duce the propensity to show off the firearm due to the fear of hav-
ing someone report the gun possession to the school officials or to
the police. This reporting is confidential and in most cases the re-
ward is immediate, often the same day that the illegal gun is lo-
cated. Thus, the situation is changed to the extent that the more
the gun is displayed, the more likely someone will report the pres-
ence of the gun thereby seeking a reward. Consequently, showing
off the firearm, even to close friends, is likely to lead the illegal
firearm being seized and its possessor arrested. In short, the suc-
cessful strategy has been to take the illegal gun possession, which
had been deemed to have been desirable, and transforming it into
something that is highly risky and undesirable. If it is too risky to
display a gun, there is little reason to have it.

The results of the Gun Stoppers Program in Charleston and the
surrounding five counties where it operates is that over 49 guns
have been confiscated and 50 arrests have been made for illegal
gun possession, primarily in schools. All of these guns were taken
into custody before they were fired. It is important to note that the
Gun Stoppers Program is not an anti-gun program; it is an anti-
illegal gun program.

While the vast majority of guns have been removed from the
school grounds and property, guns have also been removed from
playgrounds, street corners, bars and taverns. Not all persons who
have been arrested have been prosecuted. A 9-millimeter, fully
loaded handgun was reported in the possession of a 6-year old
while he was riding on a school bus. The 6-year old was not pros-
ecuted, but we were still able to remove a gun off the school bus.
Removing guns from school buses is a good thing to happen, wheth-
er anyone goes to jail or not.

As a law enforcement officer, I have often wondered why some
school authorities have been so adamant about trying to maintain
in school juveniles guilty of possessing a gun in the school environ-
ment. I recognize that it is our society’s desire to provide an edu-
cation to everyone. However, there must be some recognition that
not everyone can, in the final analysis, be educated if that person
creates an environment that markedly diminishes the security of
the entire school. Possessing a firearm in schools and playgrounds
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must be viewed as representing the very front rank of danger to
larger communities. Those possessing such firearms should be de-
nied the opportunity to victimize or threaten law-abiding society.

It has become clear in recent years that American society has
changed with regard to both its glorification and toleration of vio-
lence. Movies and visual images have become more and more vio-
lent. Actual incidents of violence have also become increasingly vio-
lent. Attacking the instruments of this violence—that is firearms,
bombs, and knives—is not the way to go toward reducing the prob-
lems of violence that face us. Indeed, it is doubtful that any imple-
mentation of external control measures can succeed in removing or
rescuing us from the danger that faces us. It is my belief that our
current problems must, in the end, be overwhelmed using internal
social controls that were once implemented by a host of societal in-
fluences, including the family, churches and synagogues, neighbor-
hoods, youth organizations, and voluntary restraint by entertain-
ment and literary sources in our society.

I believe that we can discourage increasing violence and dis-
respect for human life and each other in precisely the same way
that we have acted to encourage it. We must again seek to restrain
ourselves and shun the tendency to become more and more sensa-
tional in portraying actual and creative violence in our society. We
did not come to our present situation all at once. We lowered our-
selves to it bit by bit over time. In a similar way, we can reverse
ourselves and move our society toward a more wholesome stance
that can again give us a society where positive and valued individ-
ual and community relationships can be fostered. Increased en-
forcement can help us start this process by halting our ‘‘anything
goes’’ approach to happiness and responsibility.

We should not be surprised that we have come upon the natural
consequences of our lack of restraint. Both action and inaction have
consequences. Guns are not new to American society; they have
been long with us. But guns do, however, exhibit some change.
They are more powerful and have greater capacity for destruction.
However, they still require a human being to activate them. What
has really changed is American society. We no longer interact with
one another nor respect each other in the ways we once did. It is
in this area that I believe we need to rededicate ourselves and our
communities.

Many schools in our country have regular full-time police officers
assigned for security purposes and to serve as resource officers.
One such police officer was assigned to Columbine High School in
Littleton, CO and was present when the killing spree there began.
This officer reportedly exchanged shots with the suspects in that
incident. I believe that it could be beneficial for some schools to
have such an officer present, not only to provide security but also
to interact with the students in a host of positive ways. Few
schools or law enforcement agencies can afford to bear the cost of
assigning officers to such duties. The Federal Government could as-
sist schools by helping to provide funds for officers for school secu-
rity and safety.

In our jurisdiction in Charleston, there has been a heightened
need for security in area schools primarily as a result of the news
of the Littleton, CO shootings and bombings. Several students
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claiming to be preparing to bomb or shoot up their schools have
been arrested and charged with making terrorist threats. The pres-
ence of these school security and resource officers has been of con-
siderable value in helping to ensure parents, school officials and
students a safe educational environment. The need for this kind of
safety assurance will undoubtedly continue long past the media in-
terest in this headline story.

Mr. MICA. Chief, if you could begin to summarize—we are a little
bit over—I would appreciate it.

Mr. GREENBERG. Yes, sir. If I could have 40 seconds?
Mr. MICA. Oh, go ahead, just begin to summarize, if you could.
Mr. GREENBERG. Thank you. The school security officers can also

be assigned to perform protective roles in area parks and play-
grounds during the summer when school is out, thereby permitting
the community to extend its protection beyond just the school itself
and reach other areas where children tend to gather and play.

One of the many negative influences affecting the educational en-
vironment is the diminishing role and influence that teachers and
principals exert in today’s schools. While teachers and principals
are expected to exercise increasing amounts of responsibility over
the educational environment, they are permitted less and less au-
thority to act in reasonable and responsible ways.

Commentators have enumerated the many so-called warning
signs that were exhibited by the suspects in the Columbine shoot-
ing. However, had any school official acted to interfere or intervene
with respect to those warning signs, they most certainly would
have been subjected to allegations of bias, insensitivity, and even
overreacting in reference to them. The roles of school officials have
been so diluted that they dare not even refer to their students in
any way other than by using the most laudatory terminology. The
value of a student’s self-esteem is so highly regarded that even the
most remotely delivered statement suggesting a need for any im-
provement or reflection by a student is almost universally discour-
aged. Almost no teacher or administrative discretion and deference
remain or is appreciated. We can’t have it both ways. We cannot
hold them responsible while at the same time denying them the au-
thority to act.

I want to thank the committee for its indulgence and attention.
Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Greenberg follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony, and I am going to add
Dr. Lawrence Sherman, Chair of the Department of Criminology
and Criminal Justice at the University of Maryland, to this panel,
and I will swear you in. I know you have a scheduling conflict.

[Witness sworn.]
Mr. MICA. The answer is in the affirmative, and you are recog-

nized, sir, for 5 minutes.

STATEMENT OF LAWRENCE SHERMAN, CHAIR, DEPARTMENT
OF CRIMINOLOGY AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, UNIVERSITY OF
MARYLAND

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I appreciate the opportunity today to urge the Committee on

Government Reform to reform three aspects of Federal legislation
with respect to school violence.

First, is to put crime prevention money where the crime is and
not just distribute it on the basis of population. Second, is to move
the Safe and Drug Free Schools Program away from programs that
don’t work and to invest in programs that do, specifically policing
in high crime hot spot areas where most children are at risk of
being murdered and seriously injured by gun violence. Third, to
launch a crash effort to determine whether large schools are caus-
ing youth violence all over the country by testing the expensive but
promising solution of shrinking schools of 2,000 and 3,000 students
down to 500, which may have been associated with Columbine and
some of the other killings.

Now, in relation to the first point, Mr. Cummings has already
suggested to you that the vast majority of children who are mur-
dered are killed in inner city, concentrated poverty areas where
there is very little attention to the thousands of deaths that occur
in those places each year. That is also where the school violence
in this country, as reported by the Bureau of Justice Statistics, is
concentrated.

If we look at how Federal aid gets allocated per homicide, what
we find is that low homicide jurisdictions, like the State of Ver-
mont, are getting about $1 million in Federal aid per homicide,
whereas high homicide districts, such as Mr. Cummings’ in Balti-
more, are getting about $5,000 per homicide, and I think it is dif-
ficult to justify spending 20 times more per homicide for citizens
in one part of the country than in another part of the country.

It is supposed to be dealing with a problem. The problem in the
case of violence against kids is that they are 44 times more likely
to be murdered per minute outside of school than they are in
school. So, that if we really wanted to make our children safe from
being murdered, we might want to move them all inside the schools
rather than be focused on the schools as the site of the murders.
Even though some rare events do happen and attract a lot more
attention, it is not the substantive focus of the problem.

The problem is, in the inner city poverty areas where are guns
are combined with hopelessness and where we have astronomically
high homicide rates in general, those can be dealt with under my
second proposal, which is to take the $550 million of Safe and Drug
Free Schools money and to redirect it away from bad decision-
making by the 15,000 local education authorities in this country
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that have wasted that money—$6 billion of it—since 1986 on pro-
grams like magicians, concerts, and lectures on how Dillon Thomas
killed himself by drinking too much at $500 a lecture. The waste
in that program is all the more regrettable because if that money
had been spent for additional police patrols in high crime hot spot
areas where demonstrated projects to get guns off the street have
reduced gun injury and homicide, if that money could be directed
in that way, I think that the Federal taxpayer would be getting a
lot more prevention of injury to children than we have gotten so
far for that $6 billion to date.

But, third, to relate it to the recent tragedy in Columbine, I
think it is also possible to take part of the Safe and Drug Free
Schools money and to invest it in a way that only the Federal Gov-
ernment can invest it. The $550 million is a drop in the bucket
compared to total Federal, State, and local funding for education in
this country, which is in the range of $300 billion a year. What we
don’t know in that spending is what price we are paying for the
alleged efficiency of having these very large high schools where
kids are anonymous, where cliques rule the school, much like the
cliques rule the prison, where the principal of the Columbine High
School had never even heard of the Trench Coat Mafia prior to the
shootings even though it had been in the yearbook the year before
this happened, which I think reflects the fact that he is dealing
with paperwork and administration and all of the red tape that is
involved in managing such a very large complex.

The research shows that a coherent school where the teachers
know the students and where the students feel a sense of identity
are places that have much lower levels of violence. We don’t know
whether size causes those lower levels of violence, but it is a rea-
sonable hypothesis; all of the evidence is consistent with it. If we
were to take a school like Columbine and break it up into four or
five small schools, I think that we would find reduced levels of
alienation, of anger, and ultimately of violence. That might be the
policy that the Federal Government can help the local education
authorities in this country achieve.

I think, in summary, the fact is, we are spending enormous
amounts of money trying to prevent youth violence, and we are dis-
sipating it in small amounts, and the majority of the school dis-
tricts are getting less than $10,000 a year. You can’t do anything
meaningful with that money except what I call symbolic sport,
which is to say that we are spending money on the goal, but we
are not even doing anything that is showing evidence of affecting
the goal. It is rather like building a dam in somebody’s district by
getting the contract, talking about it, but then the dam never gets
built, and I am afraid that is the way most of the Federal money
spent for this purpose now is being allocated. If it was redirected
to policing or to critical research policy questions, like school size,
I think we would be getting a lot more bang for the buck.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Sherman follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you. I think we have had an opportunity to
hear from all of these four witnesses.

I just have one or two quick questions. Federalization of some of
the crimes that are attendant to school violence, what is your posi-
tion on that, Mr. Attorney General?

Mr. CONDON. I would be very much against that. I do think when
you look at the proper role of the State versus the Federal Govern-
ment, to Federalize, where would you start, really, and where
would it end? In my own mind, in my home State, with all due re-
spect to the moneys that are spent on Federal courts, I can just see
these school thugs going through these great halls of marble and
mahogany and the system is not really handling them. I do think
if you can give us some resources in the State system, I really feel
like—I would like to hear his view—I think that is the way to go.

Mr. MICA. I think, Dr. Sherman—I don’t want to take any of the
words out of context—but we are saying that the dollars that we
have, try to expend them for enforcement and prevention and pro-
grams where they are needed where you have the highest inci-
dents, and that is not being done now. Is that correct?

Mr. SHERMAN. That is absolutely correct, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. OK, and do you agree with that?
Mr. CONDON. Yes, yes. He is talking about what I had learned

in terms of so many Federal dollars being spent. As I understand
what he is saying in terms of—we are not talking about sending
the FBI into these school district—he is talking about block grant-
ing it and getting police officers on the streets, school resource offi-
cers, and things of that nature; excellent idea.

Mr. MICA. What do you think, Chief?
Mr. GREENBERG. Yes, I certainly would agree with that. As an

operating chief of police today after Littleton, CO, the thing that
people want is to feel assuredly safe in their own schools. In this
country, that has generally been the case, but even though we have
had no incidents in Charleston like this, people read the news-
papers and see what is going on, and people simply don’t feel safe
in their school environments anymore. We have to react to that by
making it possible for them to feel safe, and we do that by adding
people who are trained to make them safe, to see to their safety
in that particular environment.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. Finally, Mr. Walker, how do you feel about
the Federalization of these acts or crimes?

Mr. WALKER. With all due respect to the Federal Government,
which has some excellent assistant attorney generals and U.S. at-
torneys, the Federal system is simply not designed to handle youth
crimes. The last time that I checked, there was something like 200
secure beds available federally for juveniles. The States have han-
dled it. I think the attorney general from South Carolina is correct.
I think that is the appropriate place legally. I also think it is the
appropriate place practically. I do not believe that should this Con-
gress pass Federal legislation dealing with school violence, that it
will make a lot of difference. It will be symbolic, but I do not be-
lieve that it will be used effectively. I think the States are much
more effective in dealing with this kind of problem.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. I would like to yield now to Mrs. Mink.
Mrs. MINK. Thank you very much.
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The Department of Education spokesman earlier stated that in
90 percent of the schools, there are no incidents of serious youth
crimes leaving, therefore, the conclusion that in 10 percent of the
schools they do have incidents of serious crime.

Dr. Sherman points out that most of the crime affecting youth
in our society is in the inner cities. My question is, the formula and
the distribution of Federal funds under the Safe Schools Act is
done on the basis of distribution by population. What is your opin-
ion, then, following Dr. Sherman’s comments, that that funding
that is now available be concentrated on the 10 percent of the
schools that have evidenced serious youth crime and concentrate
the dollars that we are allocating—some $500 million—to just
those areas and leave out the other 90 percent? Or is there any
merit in the idea that 90 percent of our schools have avoided the
serious problems because they have had some help, some support
from the Federal Government in the Safe Schools Act?

Would any of the three law enforcement people like to comment
on that? I know this is what Dr. Sherman said, but I would like
to have your comments.

Mr. WALKER. I am not so sure that Dr. Sherman is not correct.
I think for the Safe—if we are dealing with Safe School money and
the primary concern is money to our schools, it makes sense, I
think, to put meaningful money where the problems exist most. I
would, however, quickly add that it is my position, personally, as
a prosecutor of 25 years, and the position of the National District
Attorneys Association, that there is a not only a role for the Fed-
eral Government but I think a critical one in dealing with preven-
tion, and prevention doesn’t mean giving money to a high school to
prevent violence. Prevention means dealing with young children—
people who are age zero to 2, zero to 6.

There are some proven programs that currently exist. The Uni-
versity of Colorado Center for Violence Prevention has published
an entire series that I would urge this panel to access. There are
programs that have—for example, the Early Childhood Nurse Visi-
tation in Elmyra, NY. It is a 15-year longitudinal study. We put
home nurses in at-risk families. We reduced the number of delin-
quency referrals 15 years later for those children by 50 percent.

So, while I think that if you are dealing specifically with school
violence money, it, to me, only makes sense to place it where that
violence is occurring, but I think you need to step back. If you are
going to deal with the problem not as a band-aid but for a long-
term solution, I think the way you deal with it is to prosecute it
now, because we must, and try to prevent it in the future.

Mr. CONDON. One observation I would make, too, is I would look
behind that definition of what they consider serious school crime,
because I have a hard time, based upon my experience, believing
that only 10 percent of the schools have serious crimes, not the
other 90 percent. I am assuming, within that definition, they ex-
clude assaulting teachers; they exclude drug trafficking; they ex-
clude bringing weapons to school, and I think you would have to
include those.

Mrs. MINK. Chief, do you have any comments?
Mr. GREENBERG. Yes, I believe that there are really two things.

It seems that we have a short-term solution—when I say short
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term, I am talking about the next 5 or 6 years, probably no more
than 10 years—and then the long-term solution. A long-term solu-
tion, in my judgment, has to do with the schools, themselves, and
the kind authority and independence that schools, teachers, and
administrators are given to run schools. They had that authority
once in our country, and it just virtually disappeared. It has been
taken away from them bit by bit through a variety of different
means.

With respect to the police, we can have some immediate impact
upon safety in schools until other kinds of things our society needs
to do will finally be able to have an effect, including greater author-
ity and independence for school officials.

At the same time, we have to change our society as to the kind
of violence, the kind of external stimuli the students and all of us
receive almost every day, if not constantly all the time. These
things are going to have to be addressed, as well. We can’t separate
what we see and what we hear from what people eventually are
going to do.

Mrs. MINK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. Mr. Barr, you are recognized.
Mr. BARR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to commend you for pulling together

this panel and to commend the four panelists. It has been very re-
freshing.

I had been somewhat rude, though, reading their statements as
they have been talking, but their statements are magnificent, be-
cause they reflect common sense, real life experiences, they are to
the point, and they are not bureaucratese. So, I haven’t been rude
not listening to you all—I have been—but I really have been read-
ing your written presentations, and I really do appreciate them.
There is a lot of good information in here.

I appreciate a couple of things. For example, Mr. Condon, you
said both in your oral testimony as well as in your written state-
ment that, ‘‘No serious offense in a school should go unpunished.’’
I must say parenthetically that that thought—not regarding
schools but certain other locations—crossed my mind during the
impeachment proceedings, unfortunately, but results don’t reflect
that crimes in certain places should go unpunished.

But you said that—the notion that you are talking about here I
think reflects the fact that people generally, and I suspect school
kids also, they do pay attention to what goes on in the world
around them. They do notice if people don’t get prosecuted for
crimes; that sends a certain message to them, I suspect. And that
is why I think you all are saying something very important, that
whether it is role models that we look at for our children or wheth-
er or not we, as adults, are consistent in enforcing the laws. These
things do have an impact on the thought process that goes through
our children. For example, when you talked, Mr. Condon, about
banning all plea bargaining for serious school crimes, apparently
you are serious about it.

I was very distressed, both as a former U.S. attorney as well as
a parent and as a legislator, to see, for example, that this current
administration, the current Attorney General, specifically changed
the policy of the prior Attorney General, Mr. Thornberg, who said
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gun crimes are not to be plea bargained down. That was his spe-
cific directive to U.S. attorneys reflecting his view and the view of
the prior administration that serious gun offenses should not go
unpunished and that prosecution, punishment, and prison are the
three P’s of a policy. Then when Attorney General Reno came in,
there was a specific directive to U.S. attorneys to take the shackles
off. It said, basically, go ahead and start plea bargaining these
cases down.

We also see, I think, something important for people who are
concerned about prosecuting school crime, in particular, and the
lack of interest by the Federal Government—and I understand
what you are saying and agree with you also that the Federal Gov-
ernment prosecution of violent crimes should not be the tail wag-
ging the dog. The point, though, that I am making here and I think
that you are also, is that if we do have Federal gun laws and Fed-
eral laws with regard to bringing firearms onto school property and
we don’t prosecute them, then that sends a certain message.

For example, in 1996, there were only four Federal prosecutions
of the Federal law prohibiting possession or discharge of a firearm
in a school zone. That shot up to five prosecutions in 1997 and
made a quantum leap to eight in 1998. And yet, that is completely
ignored by the President when he challenges this and talks about
thousands of cases of this.

If you could just comment briefly, maybe the rest of the panel if
you have a chance, on the need and the importance of consistency
in prosecution and the message that inconsistent leniency, for ex-
ample, in Federal prosecution sends to our kids and our school ad-
ministrators.

Mr. CONDON. I certainly agree with your comments. I am sure
you are aware of the work of the U.S. attorney in Richmond, VA
with Project Exile—

Mr. BARR. An excellent program. We are told that it is being—
tried to be deep-sixed by the attorney general.

Mr. CONDON. It does work. And, again, I am not against, and I
don’t think anyone here is against prevention strategies and all the
things that we need to be talking about, but at the end of the day
if someone commits a serious crime, there has to be accountability.
If there is not, word spreads that you can get away with it; it is
not so bad, and you lose all the deterrent value that is there. And
kids know—in talking to school children in our State, that is one
of the keys that we find in talking to them, that those that, frank-
ly, break the rules or commit the crimes, there needs to be a very
serious sanction imposed.

Mr. BARR. I appreciate that.
Mr. Walker, I would like to commend you not only for your pros-

ecutorial work but for your work with the National District Attor-
neys Association, and a former colleague of mine from my home
county, Todd County, Tom Sherrin, served I think with great dis-
tinction, as you do, as head of that organization.

Mr. WALKER. I know Tom very well. Mr. Barr, I would like to in-
dicate that I think that the—clearly, the message has to be consist-
ent; that if there is a crime, there needs to be accountability and
responsibility. If we don’t do that, I think we lose the entire pur-
pose of the criminal justice system. However, I wonder—I know
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that the numbers of Federal gun prosecutions are very, very low.
I have had several incidents in Marquette where guns have been
present in schools. My office has dealt with those, because in each
case those have been juveniles, and, frankly, the Federal system
simply does not have the ability to—

Mr. BARR. Excuse me, Mr. Walker. I have been very, very nicely
admonished by the chairman that we have votes on the floor, and
I know that we have one other member that might have a quick
question. I appreciate very much what you are saying. I am sorry
we don’t have the time to go into it as well as Chief Greenberg and
Dr. Sherman, I enjoyed your comments. I think they are very, very
appropriate, and if you all have any additional information, I would
welcome it both personally and I know the chairman would also,
to assist us in our work.

Mr. MICA. I would like to thank you. I appreciate your willing-
ness to yield.

Mr. Tierney, you are recognized.
Mr. TIERNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Barr,

and thank you, gentlemen, for your testimony.
Mr. Condon, let me ask you, it seems to me from looking at your

testimony, that you are not particularly pleased with the Federal
Government money that comes together with any direction. Is that
a fair statement?

Mr. CONDON. Well, maybe you can educate me. I have dealt with
Federal grants and received Federal grants, and it seems to me
there are so many strings and paperwork attached that I think,
‘‘Gosh, do I want to do this?’’ I understand you have a block grant-
ing process.

Mr. TIERNEY. No, no, I hear what you are saying, I just wanted
to make that clear. I am looking and the information tells me that
South Carolina has run a surplus in its State budget this year?
And run a State surplus in the last couple years? Is that right? I
mean, you are there in South Carolina; I am not.

Mr. CONDON. I think South Carolina, like most States, is running
surpluses now.

Mr. TIERNEY. So, why don’t they spend their money on a particu-
lar need and just keep the Federal Government out of it alto-
gether?

Mr. CONDON. Well, with all due respect to the Congressman, it
is our money, too, that you have got.

Mr. TIERNEY. Well, it is, but I am saying if you think that the
local folks could do a better job with it—that is surplus money—
then you people won’t have to pay as much in Federal taxes.

Mr. CONDON. Well, I would be in favor of tax cuts, but, as far
I can tell, it never happens up here, and since you are going to
spend it—aren’t you going to spend it?

Mr. TIERNEY. Well, I suspect that if there are needs, then we are
going to spend it, but you have got to tell me you can take care
of this particular need with your own money you have got sitting
around down there.

Mr. CONDON. Well, I think you all have got money sitting
around, with all due respect, and I—

Mr. TIERNEY. Let us just stay with the money that is sitting
around in South Carolina. You are going to have a surplus. Why

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00114 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



111

not apply that to an area where you think that the Federal strings
are too restrictive?

Mr. CONDON. Well, we are, in fact, arguing for that, and it is fall-
ing upon some deaf ears.

Mr. TIERNEY. Well, I hope you win.
Mr. CONDON. But if you don’t spend the money—
Mr. TIERNEY. Let me ask another question.
Mr. CONDON. If you don’t spend it, please reduce our taxes, but

if you do, what I am saying is send it to us—
Mr. TIERNEY. Well, I can tell you this: we will spend it where we

think it is going to do some good.
Mr. CONDON. Oh, I know you will.
Mr. TIERNEY. But it is interesting to know that if you have

money sitting around, I would like to hope that you might argue
that people would apply it someplace where you are having a prob-
lem taking the Federal grants.

Mr. CONDON. But, tell me, with the block grants—
Mr. TIERNEY. I am going to keep asking the questions, because

I have limited time, and we do have to vote.
Are any of you gentleman advocating that guns in schools are a

good thing?
Mr. WALKER. No, sir.
Mr. GREENBERG. Absolutely not.
Mr. TIERNEY. Why is that, if I can ask the Chief?
Mr. GREENBERG. Well, there is no legitimate function for guns in

the education environment—in secondary schools or other schools.
A place where alcohol is a chief item for sale, or a school or some-
place like that, then guns should not be in the hands of anybody.
You might have an ROTC Program where people have rifles that
have been deactivated for ceremonial-type purposes and flag pres-
entations and that type of thing, but other than simply the shape
of some of those types of weapons there is no reason why anybody
should have a gun. No student, no teacher, principal, or anybody
else should have a firearm in any kind of school environment.

Mr. TIERNEY. Mr. Walker, do you have a comment on that, what
the danger of having guns in schools is?

Mr. WALKER. Well, obviously, guns are dangerous instruments.
We don’t have them in our schools; we don’t bring them into our
courtrooms; I doubt if you allow them in here.

Mr. TIERNEY. But we do allow them in our homes, I guess, is
that it?

Mr. WALKER. We do.
Mr. TIERNEY. I don’t have any other questions.
Mr. CONDON. There is one exception, of course, with the school

resource officers. Columbine wished they had a heavier gun—the
officer that was there.

Mr. TIERNEY. Thank you.
Mr. MICA. I thank the gentleman.
We are going to recess until 2 o’clock. We have three votes, which

will take a series of time. That will give folks an opportunity to re-
fresh, get a bite to eat, and we will reconvene at 2 o’clock.

[Recess.]
Mr. MICA. I would like to call the Committee on Criminal Jus-

tice, Drug Policy, and Human Resources back to order.
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I appreciate your patience. The votes lasted a little bit longer
than we expected and we hope to have some members join us, but
we do want to continue with our third panel.

Our third panel today consists of school administrators, teachers
and a representative of a school counseling association. So, we
would like to welcome those panelists.

Those panelists are, first of all, Ms. Jan Gallagher, president
elect of the American School Counselors Association; Mr. Bill Hall,
superintendent of the Volusia County Public Schools in Florida; Dr.
Gary M. Fields, superintendent of the Zion-Benton Township High
School in Illinois, and then Mr. Clarence Cain, teacher with Crisis,
a Resource Program in Maury Elementary School in Alexandria,
VA, and I think you have two assistants with you. Would you intro-
duce those individuals, please, for the subcommittee?

Mr. CAIN. Yes, sir. On my immediate left, this is Anthony Snead
and then Jeffrey Schurott. They are officers of the BRAG Corps at
George Mason Elementary.

Mr. MICA. And are they going to testify, too?
Mr. CAIN. They are prepared to do so.
Mr. MICA. OK, well, we are going to have to swear them in and

the whole panel in. As you have seen, this is an investigation and
oversight subcommittee of Congress, and we do—to the young men,
we do administer an oath, and you have to tell the truth before this
panel of Congress and affirm it in public here.

But I would like to welcome all of our panelists, and when we
do testify, we will try to limit our time to 5 minutes, and you can—
as I informed the other panels—submit additional lengthy testi-
mony or background information for the record.

If you would please stand and raise your right hands.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. MICA. All of our witnesses answered in the affirmative, and

again I would like to welcome each of you and first recognize Ms.
Jan Gallagher, president elect of the American School Counselor
Association. Welcome, and you are recognized.

STATEMENTS OF JAN GALLAGHER, PRESIDENT ELECT, AMER-
ICAN SCHOOL COUNSELOR ASSOCIATION; BILL HALL, SU-
PERINTENDENT, VOLUSIA COUNTY SCHOOLS, FLORIDA;
GARY M. FIELDS, SUPERINTENDENT, ZION-BENTON TOWN-
SHIP HIGH SCHOOL, ILLINOIS; CLARENCE CAIN, TEACHER,
CRISIS RESOURCE, MAURY ELEMENTARY, ALEXANDRIA, VA;
ANTHONY SNEAD, OFFICER, BRAG CORPS, GEORGE MASON
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL; AND JEFFREY SCHUROTT, OFFICER,
BRAG CORPS, GEORGE MASON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Ms. GALLAGHER. Good morning. I am Jan Gallagher, president
elect of the American School Counselor Association, and I ask that
my testimony be placed in the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, the entire statement will be made
part of the record.

Ms. GALLAGHER. First, let me say that all students have a fun-
damental and immutable right to attend school without the fear or
threat of violence, weapons, or gangs.

My opening statement is the official position of our association,
which represents the 90,000 professional school counselors across
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the Nation. I firmly believe that we must make our schools safe.
I have 35 years of experience in an urban, low socio-economic, mi-
nority school district in San Antonio, TX in which we had to deal
with violence, weapons, and gangs. I know that there are ways to
prevent or lessen violence in our schools.

Example—I was trained in 1993 by the Department of Justice in
gang preventions and interventions, and, as a result of that train-
ing, we put into place an early identification procedure for parents
and teachers to help recognize the warning signs of troubled youth.

Five years ago, we established in our school district, a mandatory
16-hour family counseling program for students who were sus-
pended or expelled from school. This program was for them and
their families, and over 700 families, to date, have been served. As
a result of this program, we have had no repeat offenders. District
drop out rates have been reduced; incidents of violence have been
severely curbed; and I have written a crisis manual that has been
used as a model in other school districts in Texas. I guess you could
say that I know violence up close and personal; and I know that
there are ways to combat it.

Safe schools are essential to an efficient and effective learning
environment and necessary for our quality schools. If there is a
threat to safety—when there is a threat to this safety due to the
rapid increase of violence, weapons in schools, and gangs in our
schools—then we need to provide a safe school environment recog-
nized by parents, students, staff, administrators and other school
personnel, legislators, and the community-at-large.

Reactions to increased violence that you have seen in the past
few weeks have been strong. The cry is loud and clear—the situa-
tions must be prevented and schools must be the safe, peaceful en-
vironments they were intended to be. I can think of no better
trained or skilled group to assist and to be part of this prevention
program in violence than school counselors. School counselors have
the same Master’s level degree program for training as mental
health counselors in community agencies as well as having special-
ized courses on human development. We know and we believe that
early identification and intervention for troubled youth is essential.

We also know that there are things that can be done in the class-
room. For example, ASCA, the American School Counselor Associa-
tion, has partnered with State Farm Insurance and the National
Association for Elementary School Principals to produce ‘‘Creative
Differences.’’ This is a program that helps young students to under-
stand and manage emotions, develop basic social skills and emo-
tional tools for appropriated responses, and to learn and practice
productive and peaceful strategies for dealing with conflict. It al-
lows them to build a community within their classroom, and
through the generosity of State Farm, this is free to any elemen-
tary school. Elementary school counselors team with classroom
teachers to help all young people deal with anger and frustration
appropriately. Some students will be identified as needing more
help in controlling their anger; and by working with parents, this
can be done in small group counseling sessions or in individual
counseling. Professional school counselors have the knowledge and
the skills to implement this program.
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Of course, it would be a great world—it would be wonderful—if
all the children developed these skills in elementary school. How-
ever, we all know that the lessons of life are repeated at each de-
velopmental stage, and as children enter adolescence, they turn to
their peers for acceptance and support. An efficient strategy often
used by middle counselors at the middle school level is the training
of peer mediators. This is a proven, effective program to help dif-
fuse potentially violent situations. Peer mediators are trained to
recognize situations which need to be referred to counselors. High
schools often continue peer mediation programs that began at the
middle school level, but they add programs, such as peer assistance
leadership. All of these, as Mr. Cummings spoke about, are pro-
grams that need to be highlighted and to be recognized as success-
ful intervention strategies.

Today, we are here to question and examine the problem of vio-
lence in our schools. We are here to seek solutions, and the solu-
tions aren’t a quick fix, but are solid developmental strategies that
should have a lasting effect. Realistically, there will be students
who get into trouble and who need additional help. Professional
school counselors working as team members with students, teach-
ers, parents, administrators, other support personnel, and school
communities are the people who can do this. They are in-school
staff members who have the skills and training to assist in preven-
tion and intervention; and they do this through developmental com-
prehensive counseling programs, which are designed to meet the
needs of all students so that they can peacefully and successfully
meet the challenges in our society.

The problem is this: the national ratio of school counselors to stu-
dents is 1 counselor to 513 students, and that is lucky in some
places. This is more than twice the recommended ratio of 1 to 250.
There are many elementary schools that have no counselors. Some
elementary counselors serve as many as five schools and thousands
of students. Secondary counselors are burdened often with adminis-
trative tasks, such as scheduling and achievement test administra-
tion. We need more school counselors, and we need to ensure that
they are providing direct services to students and not being used
in other ways.

Where will these counselors come from? Well, many of them are
right now in your classrooms teaching. They were cut from school
budgets as counselors, and some are there because there were no
counseling positions. Some are there because there is no economic
advantage to becoming a counselor. Certified school counselors who
have not been practicing will need staff development to upgrade
their skills. To meet the national demand, we will have to provide
training. There will need to be incentives to lure college graduates
into counselor preparation programs, particularly minorities. We
need to look for model programs that are successful, and we need
to replicate those, and we have to start now, because we can’t wait
for another Paducah, Jonesboro, Springfield, Littleton, or Atlanta.
The next tragedy may be in your hometown.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Gallagher follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
Our next witness is Bill Hall who is the superintendent of

schools in Volusia County, FL. I would like to, if I can, Super-
intendent Hall, go ahead and play the tape from Volusia County.
I think we have a tape that we wanted to play.

[Videotape was played as follows:]
Every day, parents rely on school buses to take their children to and from school,

but what should a safe ride be? It is now a violent fighting ground for many kids.
Of course, the most important issue facing our school systems is a quality education.

But the challenge now seems to extend beyond the classroom and onto our roads
and highways. Sterling Scott joins us now with a special report. Sterling.

Tonight, we are going to show you a new side of life at school, a side that many
of us have never seen before. For the past 2 months, News Center 6 has been inves-
tigating violence on school buses. It is a dangerous situation that not only endangers
the students but everyone on the roads and the passengers, as well.

These yellow buses have been safely taking kids to and from school for years, but
for some students, the journey has become trips of terror. Class was over for the
day, but one student still had another lesson to teach.

Shane’s story: ‘‘He grabbed me by my throat and slammed me into a seat right
next to him, and then he grabbed me out of the seat and threw me onto the floor
and just starting thumping on me and throwing my head against the floor.’’

Shane says the bus driver didn’t even try to stop the beating. ‘‘I don’t know why.
She just pulled over to the side and didn’t say anything.’’

Shane’s family believes the attack didn’t have to happen. The boy who beat Shane
was suspended earlier in the day for a previous bus incident and had threatened
Shane, but Silverson School officials sent the fifth grader home on the same bus.
Shane suffered permanent brain damage. Now, his father is suing the school board
for negligence.

‘‘You know, when I was a kid, I got picked on in school too, and I had the little
scuffles and whatever, but what has happened here is total brutality.’’

This is a typical example of a Volusia County school bus. You can see mounted
on the ceiling a camera which records all of the activity which takes place inside,
and down below, a locked metal box contains a recorder which turns on automati-
cally when the school bus is cranked.

As police and EMS arrived, the bus system recorded yet another driver’s pleas for
help as fights broke out on her bus.

Former bus drivers and educators in central Florida say bus violence is growing
as fast as our population. We investigated further and found out that what hap-
pened to Shane was not an isolated incident.

Kimberly and her brother say they were repeatedly attacked on the bus. They say
the driver ignored the violence, and they watched as she turned the bus camera off.
‘‘I was getting on the bus. He came into the seat in front of me and started pushing
me.’’

‘‘So, the bus driver didn’t do anything to try to stop everything that was going
on?’’

‘‘No, she said she did, but she didn’t.’’
Kimberly’s mother pleaded for help with school officials, but the attacks continued

leaving her with one option. ‘‘I took my kids off the school bus 2 months out of the
last school year and just had to, basically, carpool them back and forth just to pro-
tect them.’’

Now, Kimberly is out of the public system and is being home-schooled.
‘‘I should be able to send my kids to school, and they should be able to come home

without being afraid of just simply riding a school bus.’’
School board officials agree. ‘‘We do not want to have that type of behavior on our

buses.’’ That is Volusia County School’s deputy superintendent, Tim Hewitt.
This is a situation that not only concerned the students and passengers on the

bus but everyone that shares the road as well, and while most bus drivers work to
maintain control are dangerous situations unavoidable? We will have more at 11.
Live in Volusia County, Sterling Scott, News Center 6.

[End of videotape.]
Mr. MICA. That is a quite remarkable piece I hadn’t seen before,

but I would like to again introduce the school superintendent from
one of the counties that I represent, Bill Hall. You are recognized,
sir.
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Mr. HALL. Thank you, Chairman Mica. It is an honor and a
privilege to be here to address this subcommittee.

First, let me address the tape that the audience and you have
just seen. We are not proud of those incidents, obviously, and we
try everything that we can to avoid them. For example, all of our
school buses—and there are 300 plus school buses—have video
cameras on them. Next year, we plan to add bus assistants to every
single bus.

In this particular situation, there is more to the story than what
has been told. However, we are under a lawsuit, I have to be care-
ful what I say, so I am not going to say much more than this: that
incident could have been avoided if a different decision had been
made somewhere along the line not to let that student ride that
bus. That was a judgment call on the part of school officials. It is
one that I have made before as a former high school principal.
When you think you have things worked out. They are worked out
with counselors involved, others involved, but it turned out to be
a nasty situation, and it is one that we are not proud of.

Having said that, let me talk about violence in our schools. I
have a written statement that I would like to be entered into the
record and also my verbal comments.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, the entire statement will be made
part of the record.

Mr. HALL. Thank you, Chairman Mica. Much has been said and
written in light of the tragic events of past weeks. I will therefore
keep my comments brief and share with you only what I consider
to be the essential elements for school safety being employed by the
Volusia County School District, in the State of Florida.

This fall, the Volusia County School District will open with ap-
proximately 60,000 students in 67 schools with over 8,000 employ-
ees. Although I feel that our schools are among the safest places
to be on a day-to-day basis, no school, public or private, in America
has been left untouched by the recent tragedy in Colorado. We
have seen the effects on our students, teachers, parents, and com-
munity. This event, coupled with other sudden acts of violence
across our country, remind us that no community can be compla-
cent in its efforts to make schools safer.

Schools should be a safe haven free of violence and aggression for
students and teachers. Schools have an obligation to teach and as-
sist in developing responsible adults. To do so, students and teach-
ers must be provided a climate for learning, one free of the fear of
bullets and bombs. I propose to you this can only be accomplished
with considerable effort and support from parents and our commu-
nities. Our approach must be multi-faceted, focusing on enhanced
security and discipline. Without increasing our ability to identify
and support troubled and disconnected youth, ignores our ability as
adults to influence our children and to make a change in their be-
havior. This is not to say that there is no need for increased dis-
cipline and security. I am sure that the school districts across the
Nation are reassessing their preparedness for violent acts as we
are in Volusia County.

The Volusia County School District is currently involved in a dis-
trict-wide safety and security certification process in order to en-
sure that each of the schools maintain a high level of security. In
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this process, schools are required to meet a set of standards divided
into five categories covering student and staff protection and emer-
gency situations. These standards were developed by the district’s
safety committee in concert with the Volusia County Sheriff’s De-
partment.

Compliance with certification is a three-step process. Schools
must have a written procedure which adequately addresses the se-
curity standards. The appropriate staff must know the procedures,
and the school must be observed being in compliance with those
procedures. The process establishes a strong foundation on which
individual schools can build a safe and secure environment. Certifi-
cation of compliance with the safety standards begins this fall for
all Volusia County schools, and, as a matter of fact, has already
begun.

In developing security plans, it becomes obvious that schools re-
quire a close working relationship with law enforcement agencies.
To further build on those relationships, our district staff partici-
pates in a statewide security organization. They also maintain
weekly meetings with supervisor personnel for the School Resource
Officer Program—and, by the way, we have school resource officers
in every middle and every high school in this country; that is 21
SROs in our school system. In these meetings, personnel assess the
risk individual students may pose as well as systemic issues.

Regarding school safety, there are issues with which Congress
can assist local school districts. Districts need greater flexibility re-
garding the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, or com-
monly known as IDEA. Currently, we have two separate systems
of discipline for those who would disrupt and threaten a safe and
orderly school environment. Students receiving special education
services pose no less a threat than any other student when they
demonstrate dangerous or disruptive behaviors. Where a non-spe-
cial education student can be expelled for serious misconduct, con-
sequences for special education students are greatly restricted,
even when weapons are involved.

Although, technically, a special education student can be ex-
pelled, districts cannot cease special education and related services
as defined by the student’s Individual Education Plan. The cost and
method of the individual delivery of such services prohibit many
districts from removing special education students who have com-
mitted serious threats to school safety.

And I am aware that Congress is dealing with this issue as I
speak, and there will be a vote on it at sometime in the future, and
I do not want to place special education in a different category or
say that it is something less than normal. I taught in special edu-
cation for 2 years at the beginning of my career, and I have a spe-
cial place in my heart for those students. However, we cannot have
two separate discipline systems, and that is what has currently
happened in every public school district across the Nation.

Safe schools must also have and use a full array of appropriate
support services for students with special learning and emotional
needs. These should be available in all schools and must be supple-
mented with services from other agencies, including mental health,
child welfare, juvenile justice, and local law enforcement. I cannot
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stress enough, the community and the family must be partners in
creating and maintaining safe schools.

Predicting a violent act is extremely difficult due to complex
human variables. However, research has shown us that interven-
tions are most effective when made early on and applied in a con-
sistent manner. A number of professionals and publications have
identified early warning signs for troubled youth. Recognizing these
signs in our students is not a difficult task. However, most schools
are not equipped to provide complex interventions. These interven-
tions are particularly important when parents or guardians appear
unconcerned with a child’s behavior or risk indicators. Therefore,
communities must come together to form coalitions to attack the
problem of school violence.

In Volusia County, we are inviting community agencies and pro-
fessionals, community leaders, and other interested citizens to
meet with us to readdress and enhance our violence prevention
plan. In our violence prevention plan, we continue to reflect the
needs of teachers, students, families, and the community. The plan
will continue to outline how our schools’ faculty will recognize the
behavioral and emotional signs that indicate a student is in trouble
and what steps will be taken to assist the student. Our goal is to
have improved access to a team of specialists trained in evaluating
serious behavioral and academic concerns available to all schools.
A tracking mechanism must be in place to monitor the student’s
progress and to assure availability and followup for all identified
interventions. Classroom teachers will have the ability to consult
with team members when they have a concern about a particular
student.

Equally important, students must play an active role in the
school’s violence prevention program. We must break the code of si-
lence which too often exists in our schools. Students should feel a
sense of responsibility to inform someone if they become aware of
another student who may carry out a violent act. They should not
feel as if they are telling on someone but rather as if they have the
responsibility to save others from injury or harm. Volusia County
has recently expanded its confidential telephone reporting system
in conjunction with the Sheriff’s Department and the community.
Our students must be encouraged to seek assistance from parents
or other trusted adults if they are experiencing intense feelings of
anger, fear, anxiety, or depression. Appropriate behavior and re-
spect for others must be emphasized at all times by all staff mem-
bers.

In closing, safe schools are places where there is strong leader-
ship, a caring faculty, student and parent participation, and com-
munity involvement. With the absence of any one of these ele-
ments, we increase the odds for school violence. Keeping our chil-
dren safe is a community-wide effort. Our common goal must be to
create and preserve an environment where students truly feel part
of our schools and of the greater community. Additional resources
and not realigned resources must be made available to achieve our
goals. We must try to keep students engaged and to reconnect with
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those who feel isolated and distressed. This responsibility must be
assumed by all of us. Solutions to school violence cannot solely rest
with our schools. It is a societal problem.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Hall follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
I am pleased now to recognize Dr. Gary M. Fields, superintend-

ent of Zion-Benton Township High School in Illinois. Welcome.
Dr. FIELDS. Thank you. I also have submitted a comprehensive

paper.
Mr. MICA. Without objection, that will be made part of the

record.
Dr. FIELDS. My comments will be different from that paper.
I would like to tell you a story about a high school of 2,100 stu-

dents north of Chicago that was troubled; 5 years ago, we began
a journey; 5 years ago, that journey was directed toward the basic
mission of our school being safe, drug free with a discipline envi-
ronment conducive to learning. That was our foundation for our
academic improvement plan.

On April 21, I received telephone calls from three school board
members. All three of them said, ‘‘Thank you.’’ All three of them
said, ‘‘I didn’t agree we needed a full-time school resource officer.
I didn’t agree that we needed to bring drug-sniffing dogs into our
high school. I didn’t agree we needed a full-time safety coordinator,
but, now, seeing what is happening in the rest of the country,
thank you, because the plan that we have put in place in our high
school has really made a difference.’’

I am proud to say that we have not, in our high school of 2,100
students, made any significant changes since April 20, and the rea-
son is, we recognized the issues that we had to address 5 years ago.
I am speaking to you as a superintendent or a high school principal
with 30 years of experience in Wisconsin, Washington State, and
Illinois. Our high school is very diverse. We have a number of kids
who come from a very urban environment; others who come from
suburban environments, but we are very, very different. And I am
also speaking to you probably as a little different type of super-
intendent, because my office is right outside of the cafeteria in our
high school, and in order for me to get out of my office, I have to
walk through students all day long. The principal and I both have
our offices in the same building with our 2,100 kids.

Thirty years ago, as a young high school principal in Wisconsin,
I began to learn that just about every serious issue with high
school students involved one common denominator—drugs. And, as
I speak, what we know is that one out of every three high school
students in this country is compromised by some use of a drug; one
out of every three. The drug is either causing the problem, it is ag-
gravating the problem, or it is interfering with the solution.

And I would say to you also that in 30 years as a principal or
a superintendent, I have never prayed more; every night and every
morning and as I speak right now that something won’t happen in
my high school. In fact, if nothing else happened as a result of Col-
umbine, it has brought prayer into the public schools. My faculty
prays every single day.

During the last 4 years, I have sat through 55 student expulsion
hearings with our board of education; 45 for marijuana offenses.
We have a true zero toleration policy, but we do not put students
on the street. We do force accountability. Students are expelled, but
they are allowed to come back under an Expulsion Abeyance Con-
tract with only a portion of the expulsion being served. If it does
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involve drugs—most often marijuana—they must then be drug test-
ed at parental expense at least twice a month with the results
being released to the principal. I can probably tell you that we are
graduating from high school young people who are drug free as a
result of this policy, and it has made a difference in their lives.

But there is no one reason for this very difficult, complex situa-
tion. I personally believe marijuana is a key piece of the puzzle, if
one takes a look at all the research and all the experience. But
what we are all about is developing humane schools that are safe
and drug free.

And let me talk just briefly about the funding. Our 2,100 stu-
dents, this year, are supported by $12 per student of Safe and Drug
Free Schools money, and next year we have been informed that
they will be supported by $8 per student of Safe and Drug Free
Schools money. That is the grant that we have written right now,
and we use all of that money to support our full-time school re-
source officer. And, so anything else that we are doing is a diver-
sion of local taxpayer funds, and, yes, I am forced and we are
forced to write some competitive grants to get some limited dollars,
but the amount of time that it takes to write those grants is very,
very substantial.

Well, anyway, during the last 5 years, here is what has hap-
pened in our school. We have had 50 percent less student suspen-
sions, 40 percent less fights, 56 percent less agitations to fight, 23
percent less tobacco violations, 36 percent less alcohol and drug
violations, 64 percent less afterschool detentions, and 45 percent
less in-school detentions. And this is because of the plan that we
put in place 5 years ago.

Why have we changed? The No. 1 reason is school board policy.
We have a very enlightened board. We have a superintendent and
a principal who absolutely will not compromise our commitment to
being safe and drug free. Second of all, our school improvement
plan, the goal of which is academic improvement, begins with us
being safe and drug free. And, as you know, one of our eight na-
tional goals is that schools would be safe and drug free with a dis-
ciplined environment conducive to learning. I would suggest to you
that is the umbrella goal for all of the others; and, in fact, the evi-
dence indicates it is the goal we are least succeeding at in this
country. We put that umbrella over our school improvement plan.

I have heard today that we have to reduce student anonymity or
school size. Absolutely, this is true. However, I am not suggesting
every school in the country needs to do this. And, by the way, ours
is a very comfortable high school. I look forward to coming to school
every single day. I will take anyone through our building at any
time, but every student in our high school for 2 years and every
adult and every visitor wears an ID like this. We have not had a
student in the last 2 years run from an adult in our building be-
cause of the ID policy. When you get on the bus in the school morn-
ing, you can’t get on without your ID. The bus driver knows the
students from day one. Substitute teachers know the students, and
so the I.D. policy has really made a difference of eliminating ano-
nymity.

Third, we have a very active student assistance program modeled
after employee assistance programs. We have had 500 students in
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the last 4 years participate in one of our student support groups,
including anger management. Every one of our drug groups has
anger management involved, because they are inseparable.

Fifth, our staff. We have a full-time school resource officer and
full-time safety coordinator and have for 5 years. Also, we have had
extensive training for every one of our faculty members, for exam-
ple, on gangs, and we put kids on gang prevention contracts. If
they display any signs or symbols, their parents are brought in,
and parents and kids sign a contract. Yes, we have kids in gangs,
but the evidence during the school day is non-existent.

Sixth, we have strong parent and community partnerships. We
have coalitions. We are into solutions, not blame. We have 50 mem-
bers of our communities serving on the Coalition for Healthy Com-
munities, of which I am the president. And also we have 1,100 of
our parents join our parent network and have their names pub-
lished in our parent network directory with a commitment to com-
municate knowing where their kids are, what they are doing, and
who they are with. These partnerships are enormous.

And, I guess, No. 7 or 8—whatever that order is—it obviously in-
volves leadership, and we don’t need any funds for leadership.
What we need is enlightened school administrators and school
board members. We need training programs to convince those in
leadership positions that there is no compromise. We will be safe
and drug free; we will keep this message in front of our kids, in
front our parents, in front of our communities. We will speak that
issue every single time.

Finally, we are diverting local resources; there is no question
about that. That is a concern, but I would leave you with a state-
ment that we need to build comprehensive systems, because when
we put good people in bad systems, the system always wins.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Fields follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
And now I would like to recognize Mr. Clarence Cain, a teacher

with the Crisis Resource Program of Maury Elementary School in
Alexandria, VA. You are recognized, sir, and you have a couple of
witnesses with you.

Mr. CAIN. Thank you, sir. I am privileged to be here. I am hon-
ored to be here.

My name is Clarence Cain, and I am the crisis resource—one of
the crisis resource teachers in Alexandria, VA.

I would like to start with a statement about what am I, because
that greatly influences whether or not I am effective as a crisis re-
source teacher. Although public education is what I do, it is not
what I am. I am a Christian. I belong to Jesus Christ in attitude
and lifestyle. I aim to pattern my steps after His. I do what I do
as I do because I am joined to Him, and I seek to give my time,
talent, and treasure for one reason: Christ gave His life on behalf
of mine.

And then I would like to state briefly strategies I employ on a
daily basis. I pray for each child by name that I am dealing with,
and this is done in my home. And then when I come to school, I
maintain a calm demeanor and patience regardless of the incidents
that I face. On a weekly basis, I employ the following crisis inter-
vention strategies: small group isolation, behavioral journals, par-
ent conferences, incentive plans, BRAG Corps—and I have two rep-
resentatives here of the BRAG Corps—prosocial training, student
contracts, home visits, lost privileges, non-violent restraints, final
consequences, also rewards.

I am a Christian who is armed with compassion. I was inspired
to be a teacher. It was not my plan. I had wanted to be a doctor,
but my faith helped me to recognize the problem, and so I decided
to give my time to children within the public schools. My greatest
impact, however, is not made in the public schools; it is made after
school and on the weekends where I am able to practice my faith
as a Christian freely. I have no power of my own. The Gospel of
Jesus Christ is the power of God to purge unrighteousness from the
heart of any person or people. This is my conviction.

And then I want to share a story about a group of kids at the
Fishing School in Northeast Washington that is off the A Street
corridor. I had a group of children that were involved with me in
Bible study. Tom Lewis is a retired police officer. He is the execu-
tive director. He saw me working out in the West Virginia wilder-
ness with full love of children. My cabin was honored as the best
cabin that week. So, he asked me to come and lead his program
in Northeast Washingotn, DC. I told him the same thing, I had no
power to change human behavior; that the only way I would accept
the job is if he allowed me to involve his children in Bible study.
He agreed. I set the Bible in front of these kids 5 days a week,
Monday through Friday. At first, they left, but then they came
back. One particular Saturday morning, some of them had come in
and wrecked the place during a meeting with a potential donor. I
asked the question: If Jesus had been there, would they have
wrecked the place? I remember clearly never chastising. I didn’t
ask them to do anything. I returned upstairs, and after the meet-
ing was finished, I came down and the place was spotless. A num-
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ber of the kids within the same group a week later confessed Christ
as their own personal savior. This story, and I have countless sto-
ries like this one, is really a prelude to the other reason why I am
here and that is to share in brief detail what I believe the role of
the Church is in terms of stemming the problem of violence or any
other form of unrighteousness that is in our country.

I am a member of the Crossroads Baptist Church. To me, it is
one of the greatest churches in America today. It has reproduced
itself 11 times, and its ministries and programs are comprehensive.
I will just name a few: Bible preaching, music, teens, prisons, mili-
tary, death, children’s church, child development center just to
name a few.

It is my personal view that America has come to a place where
children of all backgrounds are now at risk. Our country is eroding
from within; violence and moral corruption are now threatening to
bring this glorious empire to ruins. Unbelief and unrighteousness
is effectively doing to America what the cold war could not. Ameri-
ca’s diseased and dying. We are experiencing a national crisis. To
get well, I believe that America needs a large dose of churches like
Crossroads Baptist. The American people, as any people, need to
experience Bible salvation.

Religion and personal faith in Jesus Christ are not one in the
same, and, with all due respect, religion crucified Christ. We do not
need more religion. As I follow the news, few can argue with me
when I say that some of the most violent nations in the world are
religious. Real change begins within the heart. The Book of Prov-
erbs says, ‘‘Out of the heart are the issues of life.’’

Today, American television is the mirror of our unrighteous in-
dulgences as a society. Sin is still a reproach today. A white gown,
fancy suit, college diploma, or fat bank account is no match for an
unregenerate heart. Covetousness and evil desire threatens the
very soul of this Nation, its people. Under Heaven, there is only
one element I know of that personally cleanses the heart of man—
the blood of Jesus.

We, the people of the United States of America, desperately need
the blood of Jesus applied to each of our individual accounts. If
that happens, our homes and our schools will change for the better.
I am a living witness—early Americans knew it too. Remember the
Bible schools of old? I believe a quality King James version edu-
cation is still the greatest heritage we could give our children.

As a Nation, America stands to be blessed, as well. The Bible
says, ‘‘Blessed is the Nation whose God is the Lord.’’ That is the
view that I believe—a prominent view that I believe the Church
can play. I think that it has to be taken seriously what the Church
and its influence can be on a family. Most of the problems that I
experience in school have most to do with faith, have most to do
with lack of values, has most to do with poor family structure, and
there is only one person I know of who can influence that for the
better, and that is my Savior, Jesus Christ.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Cain follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony. Did these young men
want to comment?

Mr. CAIN. They are prepared to respond to any direct questions
you might have, and then they want to do a demonstration, as well.

Mr. MICA. We will ask some questions as we proceed here.
Mr. CAIN. OK.
Mr. MICA. We do want to keep the panel moving, and we are

running behind schedule. I appreciate everyone’s testimony today.
We have heard a number of recommendations here today, and I

think that Superintendent Hall commented on the different stand-
ards that we have in schools with the IDEA Program, special edu-
cation students. You described two systems of discipline make it
difficult to operate. I would imagine you are a strong advocate of
some congressional change to these requirements. Is that correct?

Mr. HALL. Yes, I am.
Mr. MICA. And, specifically, how would we deal with this and

still serve the needs of our special education students?
Mr. HALL. Well, Chairman Mica, as I said, disruptive behavior

is disruptive behavior. Currently, the law allows me to expel a stu-
dent or suspend a student, a special ed student, for up to 45 days
if they carry a weapon to school. I think the new legislation would
allow me to expel that student for much longer than that. If you
and I were regular students and we carried a weapon to school, we
would be suspended in the State of Florida for up to 1 full school
year after the incident. That is not happening with special ed stu-
dents.

Now, I don’t want to dwell on special ed students, because they
make up only about 10 percent of our student population, but the
amount of problems that we have, particularly with emotionally
handicapped students and severely emotionally handicapped stu-
dents, puts us into a double-tiered discipline system.

Mr. MICA. Well, you said they only account for about 10 percent
of our students, but what percentage of the problems are you see-
ing in the school system that they account for?

Mr. HALL. Approximately 40 percent.
Mr. MICA. About 40 percent. So you think you need a little bit

more discretion and flexibility as far as imposing punishment and
restrictions on them?

Mr. HALL. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. We have another superintendent, Mr.—I am sorry, Dr.

Fields, what is your opinion on this?
Dr. FIELDS. I think we need more local autonomy. I was a direc-

tor of special education for 2 years, and so I also have some back-
ground in that. And my recommendation would be that local school
boards are charged with the responsibility of doing what is best for
children, and when we are dealing with youngsters with severe be-
havioral manifestations, special education students, that local
boards should have the autonomy to determine what is best for
their own community.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. I think you also commented about some
problems with funding limits and the hoops that you go through to
apply for funds. You think we could administer Federal funding of
these programs in some more efficient manner, and what would
you recommend?
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Dr. FIELDS. Well, No. 1, there need to be more. The second part
of the problem is how it comes to us from the States, and I know
every State is different; the requirements are different. But the fact
of the matter is, as I said, $12 per students this year for Safe and
Drug Free Schools money in our particular case. We don’t spend
any money on magic programs, and the kinds of statements that
I heard this morning in terms of some of these kinds of things, I
don’t know anyone near us that spends money on those kinds of
things.

The fact of the matter is, we need to have programs to intervene
with students who have drug problems—and I mentioned the mari-
juana issue. It is so significant. If one really looks at marijuana
and sat through 45 school board hearings, as I have, and sees the
behavioral manifestations of those students, the dollars that we
need, we shouldn’t be forced, necessarily, to compete for, and if
there are going to be dollars, they should be more entitlement dol-
lars coming to us, and, again, there needs to be flexibility with
those dollars.

But the grants and writing for those grants—and I looked at the
booklet over here and the June 1 deadline, we simply don’t have
grant writers. Big districts can afford to hire grant writers to write
those programs. We have got 2,100 high school kids, and if I don’t
write the grant, no one does. So, it is a difficult issue.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. And we have our two youngest witnesses,
Jeffrey and Anthony. Can you quickly demonstrate for the sub-
committee how your BRAG Program disciplines students? They
have been waiting 5 hours to do this. [Laughter.]

We should give them both a medal.
[Demonstration.]
[Applause.]
Mr. MICA. Thank you. Thank you, gentleman, for showing us

what you do in your program.
Maybe, briefly, Mr. Cain, you could just tell us the purpose of

that exercise?
Mr. CAIN. The drill teams or the BRAG Corps is an acronym for

Behavior, Respect, Attitude, and Grades. It is basically an after-
school club that works in conjunction with the classroom to help
modify student behaviors if necessary. It actually originated in the
District, in Washington, DC. It used to be—it is called in DC, the
Gentleman’s Club, and it is basically a club for black boys who
cause problems in schools, and there is about 15 of them in DC
today, and, from what I understand, where they exist, discipline
problems are reduced by 90 percent. I started my career in DC and
came across a gentleman who founded the program. His name is
Leslie Newsome, retired as of today.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. I would like to yield now to Mr. Barr, the
gentleman from Georgia.

Mr. BARR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I appreciate the dem-
onstration, Mr. Cain, as well as the explanation of the program. I
also appreciate your references to God and Jesus Christ, and I ap-
preciate the fact that you are not ashamed to say that in your per-
sonal life and in your professional life and obviously practice it, as
well.
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One of the things that hangs on the wall of our office in the
building right next door is the Ten Commandments. There is no
ode to wiccan. There is no statement of secular humanism or other
of the movements that seem to be taking hold in our society, even
on U.S. military bases. Now, the practice of witchcraft, wicca, is
being allowed as a practice of a legitimate religion, under the guise
of a legitimate religion, and officially sanctioned by our military. I
also read that the movement called secular humanism, which also
is an anti-God movement, is putting on a new face to make itself
more presentable to young people on campuses and high schools.
And these sorts of things simply illustrate the depth of the problem
that we face.

I have never had anybody that has come into our office and felt
intimidated because the Ten Commandments are there. We don’t
require anybody to pay homage to them. We certainly hope that all
human beings adhere to them; they obviously don’t. But it is not
an intimidating document, and I am, of course, very distressed, as
probably a lot of people are, perhaps, including some others on this
panel, that for the past 38 years we have consciously sought to re-
move any vestige of religion from our public schools, and I think
that was a very serious mistake, but there isn’t much that we can
do about it these days.

Just in Georgia, recently, students were denied at a graduation
ceremony from even referencing God. It wasn’t anything the school
would have sanctioned. It was simply the students wanted to do
that, and they were denied that opportunity. I sometimes think
that if we had the Ten Commandments on more walls and more
schools and public buildings, it might cause people to think a little
bit more about what those things mean.

So, I appreciate the fact that at least you stepped forward and
are not ashamed to say that, and you don’t require other people to
adhere to it, but I think by example it has a great deal of meaning
to others, so I appreciate that very much.

I also appreciate—I think both Mr. Hall and Dr. Fields, in your
presentation, you talked about the consistency of the way we treat
students with the overriding goal being the protection of students
against acts of violence in our schools. And, it seems to me that if
we approach the problem of school violence from the standpoint
that the primary responsibility of our schools is to, aside from
teaching our children, to protect our students and teach them in an
environment that is free from violence or the threat of violence
against the students, that that leads us to a number of conclusions,
one of which is that if students are found to cause acts of violence
or to bring weapons on school property, the school administrators
ought to have the power to remove those students and not be able
to remove only those, for example, that don’t claim that bringing
that weapon on school is a manifestation of a disability or some-
thing.

And that gets us into the IDEA Program. I have legislation pend-
ing that, in so far as the IDEA Program, can and has been used
as a shield behind which to prevent local school administrators
from treating a student who claims an IDEA disability the same
as another student when they bring weapons into the schools. It
would level the playing field.
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Do you think that this, Mr. Hall—would this be an appropriate
step? It doesn’t say anything about teaching students with disabil-
ities. It simply says that there is an overarching concern here
where you have students that bring weapons into the schools, that
they ought to be treated the same. Whether they claim this was a
manifestation of their disability or they don’t, it poses the same
threat to other students.

Mr. HALL. I think that is an appropriate step; yes, sir.
Mr. BARR. Dr. Fields, would you feel the same way?
Dr. FIELDS. Yes, absolutely. I used to use the term ‘‘common

sense,’’ and I have learned that there is no such thing as common
sense. The common sense answer is, if a student is dangerous to
others, that student cannot be there.

Mr. BARR. Would it be appropriate to ask our two young wit-
nesses a question, Mr. Cain?

Mr. CAIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. BARR. And you can certainly put it in other words.
I would like to know—we talked before with the earlier panel

about children paying attention to what happens in our society.
Sometimes, I think we operate as if only we know what is going
on, the adults. But I think students do pay attention, and if they
see people being treated differently, people not being punished,
whether it is a high political official, somebody at school, a movie
star or sports star, children notice that. I would be interested in
what your two witnesses, the two young men that are with you,
whether they do pay attention to that sort of thing and whether it
impacts them?

Mr. CAIN. These are two of my most articulate members. They
are small and in third grade, but these are the sergeants of the
BRAG Corps, so they are prepared to speak for themselves, if you
will ask the question directly.

Mr. BARR. OK, if you two young men would tell me, if you see
somebody who has done wrong, who did drugs, for example, or com-
mitted an act of violence and they are not punished, do you think
that is wrong? Do you think everybody who does wrong ought to
be punished the same?

Mr. SHUROTT. Yes, I think that they should all be punished the
same because they all did that.

Mr. BARR. Do you agree, sir, the other young gentleman?
Mr. SNEAD. Yes, I do.
Mr. BARR. Do you all get good grades?
Mr. SHUROTT. Yes.
Mr. SNEAD. Yes.
Mr. BARR. Is that important also, to get good grades?
Mr. SHUROTT. Yes.
Mr. SNEAD. Yes.
Mr. BARR. Good. Well, I appreciate then—I know I probably can

speak for the chairman too—we appreciate you all being here very
much, and I appreciate all of the witnesses. All of these are impor-
tant—what you all have been talking about are very, very impor-
tant pieces of an overall solution.

Mr. CAIN. Sir, if I may, these are honor students. They weren’t
specific. They are honor students.
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Mr. BARR. Well, I am glad you let us know that. Obviously, they
don’t go around wearing that on their sleeve, and I appreciate you
telling us that. It makes them even more impressive.

Mr. MICA. Thank you so much for your testimony and participa-
tion, each and every one. We do try to build a record here, and we
have a responsibility of oversight and investigation of the various
Federal programs and how they are working, and we take your
comments very seriously. So, if we have no further questions of this
panel, we will dismiss at this time and thank you again for being
with us.

Mr. CAIN. Thank you.
Mr. MICA. I would like to call our final panel, and we have two

witnesses on that panel now. First, we have Mr. Kevin Dwyer,
president elect of the National Association of School Psychologists,
and then we have Mr. James Baker, executive director of the Insti-
tute for Legislative Action of the National Rifle Association.

If we could have our two witnesses please come up and join us,
and, staff, if you could make certain that we have their proper
identification.

Gentleman, as I mentioned before, this is an investigation and
oversight subcommittee. I apologize for the late hour. We did have
almost an hour of votes in between. So, we are running behind, but
I do thank you for being patient.

If you wouldn’t mind, could you please stand and be sworn in.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. MICA. Again, I want to thank you, and if you have lengthy

statements or documentation, we would be glad to put that in the
record. I recognize, first, Mr. Kevin Dwyer, president elect of the
National Association of School Psychologists.

STATEMENTS OF KEVIN DWYER, PRESIDENT ELECT, NA-
TIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS; AND
JAMES BAKER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, INSTITUTE FOR LEG-
ISLATIVE ACTION, NATIONAL RIFLE ASSOCIATION

Mr. DWYER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is wonderful that you
are having these hearings and looking for information that is sound
and based on research.

My name is Kevin Dwyer. I am a nationally certified school psy-
chologist. I am president elect of the National Association of School
Psychologists, representing the 21,000 members who serve in
15,000 school districts, in 85,000 public schools and 15,000 private
schools across the Nation. We also serve in overseas and Defense
Department schools, as well. We also provide services to children
in the private schools, particularly children who have disabilities.

School psychologists are highly trained mental health behavioral
and academic experts in both emotional and developmental learn-
ing.

I was a school psychologist for 31 years working in schools. I re-
tired in 1993. I worked with about 10,000 youngsters. I am also the
parent of seven children and I have eight grandchildren, and so I
have a big investment in education and the future of education, as
well.

The Federal role in helping communities to make schools safer
and drug free and more conducive to learning should include tech-
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nical support and resources for local schools to ensure that all chil-
dren are healthy, ready to learn, and able to achieve their aca-
demic, physical and psycho-social potential as citizens in a demo-
cratic society. One of the ways to do this is through some of the
programs that have already been discussed here today, and that is
full service schools.

Full service schools, like Jesse Keen Elementary School in Lake-
land, FL, are examples of how Federal funds have been successful
in really helping schools locally. Federal funds are provided to
schools through title I and also through some additional funds. In
that school, it is demonstrated, with teacher and staff training,
using theory-based, research-based practices, that children could be
taught not only to read and write and problem solve but also to re-
spect each other and respect their teachers.

Children are taught to think before they act; basically, to stop
and think—which, by the way, is very hard to do in today’s society
since we teach kids through our media to be impulsive. Teaching
children to stop and think before they act; to solve problems, and
these children are held accountable for their actions. They are
taught to make choices, and they are held accountable for their ac-
tions when they make bad choices.

The program has significantly reduced fighting, suspensions,
costly grade retention, and the program has also reduced by almost
90 percent the number of students referred to special education,
again, reducing costs.

The Federal role was carried out through legislation that sup-
ports prevention of behavioral problems through school-wide pro-
grams, and I think this is one of the things that we have heard in
testimony a couple of times this morning and from Dr. Sherman.
Programs that are successful are school-wide programs. Programs
that are not successful are small programs that are attached to
schools.

These coordinated programs are the most cost-effective when
combined with interventions that focus on those children who need
intensive help to address their serious emotional problems, as was
talked about this morning by Dr. Chevez. And, by the way, the re-
ality of the situation is that most emotionally disabled kids who
need emotional and psychological help are not getting it. It isn’t
just that 60 percent aren’t getting it; most of these kids aren’t get-
ting it, and they are not getting it intensively enough to make the
difference.

I am also glad that this committee is asking: How do we know
that programs work? Is there research data or significant field test-
ing that proves the results are sustained over time? Are the pro-
grams family friendly, and are they culturally sound? Feel good
programs with anecdotal data do not reduce violence or classroom
disruptions, and this is something that really disturbs me. We con-
tinue to support programs that may make people feel good. They
may look good even, but they don’t necessarily have any results
that show a dramatic change. Teachers and families, by the way,
lose hope when programs fail. The longer a poorly treated problem
persists, the more difficult it is to treat. It is like using a low dose
of an antibiotic or the wrong antibiotic to fight a serious infection.
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The child’s disease becomes more resistant even to a good treat-
ment.

The Federal role should be to ensure that local school commu-
nities are given the guidance—and this is important in terms of the
discussion we have had so far in this committee—to recognize what
is an effective program and what is not. Too many schools are re-
acting to the current rash of school shootings by buying a slick cur-
riculum or a consultant or hardware that they have been told will
make their school safe. Too much of this commercial material is
unproven and ineffective. Metal detectors, school uniforms may be
good, but they are totally unproven. We have no research data that
shows that they work in reducing school violence.

Another thing I want to talk about is Medicaid. Medicaid, right
now, is an available funding source that could provide local school
systems finances to reduce the burden on local taxpayers by equal-
izing the funding of school-based services to children of poverty
who could benefit from those services. When services are provided
early in their natural setting in the school, they are shown to be
much more effective. The Social Security Administration does not
see ‘‘the medical necessity’’ and frequently invalidates the creden-
tials of schools service providers. That is something that Congress
could deal with and I think deal with effectively. I heard you talk
about parity, which I think is another issue related to funding serv-
ices.

The GAO Study in 1995, which was a report to Congress, re-
ported what effective programs must look like. They must be com-
prehensive; they must start early; they must have strong manage-
ment; they must use consistent disciplinary codes; they must pro-
vide teacher training, parent involvement, and interagency collabo-
ration. This is the kind of program that project Achieve that Jesse
Kean Elementary School I mentioned in Florida has.

Last, I would like Congress to think about providing ways to
curb the exposure to overstimulating media that pushes many of
our children to thoughts of violence and destruction. I believe also
that we have a national responsibility that is seriously neglected
and that is, the access of firearms in millions of our homes. Chil-
dren, particularly those with impulsive or emotional problems, who
have access to firearms, are a clear danger to themselves and oth-
ers.

The United States leads the world in homicides and suicides of
teenagers. Homicide and suicide are the major causes of death
among adolescents in the United States, and firearms are the
major weapon for those homicides and suicides. You have a 98 per-
cent chance of completing a suicide with a firearm and an 8 per-
cent change of completion when taking pills.

I think that we need to make certain that we don’t allow access.
I am not saying we do away with guns; I am saying we don’t allow
access of firearms to children. We have to do something about that.
Access to firearms in the home is a primary difference between our
country and the other comparable countries in the world. It is a dif-
ficult issue; it is not an easy issue, but it is one that we can’t con-
tinue to ignore. And I am not saying that is the only thing we have
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to do. The thing that we really have to do is institute these com-
prehensive programs both in our school and our community. I to-
tally agree with the responsibility concepts that have been dis-
cussed here today.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Dwyer follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you, Mr. Dwyer and probably purposely timed,
although he has had to wait a long time to be on this panel, our
last witness, Mr. James Baker, who is executive director for the In-
stitute of Legislative Action for the National Rifle Association. You
are welcome, recognized, and thank you again for your patience.

Mr. BAKER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the com-
mittee. On behalf of our nearly 3 million members and the approxi-
mately 80 million law-abiding gun owners in this Nation, we appre-
ciate the opportunity to testify here today.

The NRA joins the Nation in expressing our shock, grief and
sympathy at the tragedy that transpired in Littleton, but we do not
presume to cast ourselves as the most qualified experts in the root
causes of juvenile violence. The committee has heard from several
panels today representing a far broader realm of expertise in this
particular area.

And for that reason, my testimony will be very brief, and it is
a brevity that reflects what we believe is the absence of a nexus
between second amendment issues and the tragedy that transpired
Colorado and in other schools across the country.

For our 128 years of existence, the NRA has been unwavering in
our consistent condemnation of the misuse of firearms. We have al-
ready supported legislation that prohibits and severely punishes
the criminal misuse of firearms. That commitment is reflected in
one sense by the shear number of laws that were already broken
by the perpetrators of the terrible attack in Littleton, CO. By our
estimation, in Littleton, 22 separate State and Federal firearms
laws and explosive laws were violated, and I have included a copy
of those statutes with my testimony and would like to make those
copies part of the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, they will be made part of the
record.

Mr. BAKER. One of those statutes is the Federal Gun Free School
Zones Act, first passed in 1992 and revised in 1996, without objec-
tion from the National Rifle Association. As recently as last week,
we very publicly reiterated our commitment to a clear policy of zero
tolerance for violations of that act. Yet the very same Department
of Justice that is regularly enlisted by the White House to lobby
for restrictions on lawful firearms, users, has, in our opinion, been
derelict in enforcing that law. The administration admits that over
6,000 juveniles were expelled from school during the 1996–1997
school year, alone, for violating the clear prohibitions of this act.
And yet over those past 3 years, the Department of Justice has
prosecuted only four violators in 1996, five in 1997, and eight in
1998.

Evidence of dereliction is present in the prosecution record of
nearly every other Federal firearms prohibition, as well. The ad-
ministration championed the Youth Handgun Safety Act, which
banned the juvenile possession of handguns, but the Department of
Justice has prosecuted only 20 violations of this act in the past 3
years. In recent days, the Justice Department has attempted to
blunt the sting of this revelation by saying that such prosecutions
are better handled at the State and local level. Well, if that is truly
the case, Mr. Chairman, then why is the administration pushing
for more Federal laws they clearly have no intention of enforcing?
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The American people understand that laws without teeth cannot
restrain lawless behavior. We will never know how many lives
could have been saved over the years if the laws that are currently
on the books had simply been enforced. We do know that further
posturing on behalf of passing new restrictions is meaningless un-
less it is matched by a commitment to enforcement.

We urge the committee and the House to refrain from a purely
political response to the tragedies, such as Littleton, and we are
encouraged that this committee has taken the time to engage in
the deliberative process of this hearing. The reflex to cast about for
a party to blame in the aftermath of any tragedy is understand-
able, but we believe we must not lose site of the fundamental pre-
cept of American jurisprudence, which is, that individuals are re-
sponsible for their own actions.

We stand ready to work with the House throughout this legisla-
tive process, and, again, Mr. Chairman, thank you very much for
the opportunity to testify.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Baker follows:]
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Mr. MICA. Thank you. Thank you both for your testimony and for
your enduring patience this afternoon.

I was interested to hear Mr. Dwyer say that one of his concerns
is the access to firearms, particularly among behaviorally or emo-
tionally disturbed children. We already have some laws that deal
with this, and we heard the representative from NRA say that
those laws aren’t being enforced; 6,000 students expelled and only
a handful that they have gone after. Is there something missing in
the law, Mr. Dwyer, and, Mr. Baker, the same question, or is it a
question of enforcement?

Mr. DWYER. The things that I am talking about—most of the
youngsters, by the way, that I am thinking of who have used weap-
ons, particularly those who use them on themselves, that is done
in the home, and those are weapons that they just have available
to them. I believe that in most of those situations if those firearms
weren’t available to them at that time, they would still be alive. I
have worked with—I have had three youngsters—one murdered
another youngster; one murdered another youngster and then hung
himself in jail, and another one shot himself with his father’s pis-
tol; bought a bullet for it, because his father didn’t have any am-
munition in the home. But the reality is that we need to take re-
sponsibility. We need to work together to take responsibility; to fig-
ure out ways to make sure that families, if they do have weapons
in their homes, that they have ways of preventing the youngsters
from having access to those weapons.

The other—and I say this to parents all the time—if you have
an emotionally disturbed child, a depressed child or a child with se-
vere attention deficit disorder with impulsivity, you should take the
guns out of your house for the period of time that they are growing
up, particularly as they are moving through adolescence. It is too
dangerous. It is just pure and simply too dangerous.

We need to think a little bit about danger. We lock our cars, be-
cause we don’t want people to take them. We think about if there
are children around, we don’t do things that are going to cause
them harm. We have laws about lead paint. We have all these
kinds of rules and regulations. We have got to do something about
this one, because, frankly, we lead the world, accounting for 78 per-
cent of the firearms deaths of children and youth out of 26 coun-
tries. OK, 78 percent of firearms deaths are in the United States
even though we only have 38 percent of the children among those
26 countries. I mean, this is something that we have to look at, and
we have to work on this together, bipartisanly.

I think this is something that we just need to come up with some
good ideas, some effective ideas that will prevent these deaths from
happening. I tell their parents to get the guns out of the house if
they have troubled children. Put them in a safety deposit box until
things get better, and I do that as a professional, but I think that
is one person. We need to have some way to publicly communicate
this to our Whole Nation.

Mr. MICA. Mr. Baker, did you want to respond?
Mr. BAKER. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I don’t think that there is any

way that we can legislate responsibility, but I certainly agree with
Mr. Dwyer to the extent that we need to, through education and
training, provide for secure storage of firearms. We have been an
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advocate of that since we were formed. From the standpoint, with
the right to own a firearm, comes the responsibility to safely use
it, to safely store it. Certainly in the context of the home where
there are juveniles, they ought to be safely stored. We spend mil-
lions of dollars a year as do the firearms industry in just those
types of education and safety training programs around the coun-
try, and I couldn’t agree with Mr. Dwyer more that the question
of safety in the home is one of education, and there is really no way
to legislate that.

Mr. MICA. Well, finally, my question about access. Are there ad-
ditional measures that Congress can take relating to access or are
the laws sufficient in keeping firearms away from young people
and those at risk?

Mr. BAKER. Well, just a couple of a factual matters. There were
as many firearms in 1950 per capita as there are now, and yet we
didn’t seem to have the same problems in the 1950’s with the mis-
use of firearms that we seem to be experiencing today. So, there
are clearly factors other than there being firearms. There were fire-
arms then and the same numbers per capita as there are now. So,
there are other factors at play, and I must admit that the National
Rifle Association and myself, personally, are not experts, but you
have had a number of very qualified and articulate spokesmen for
various programs and plans. I don’t think that the number of fire-
arms out there is the answer to the violence or is even a component
answer to the violence. It goes far beyond that.

Mr. DWYER. The violence—excuse me—may I?
Mr. MICA. Mr. Dwyer.
Mr. DWYER. The increase in adolescent and youth violence in

homicide and suicide, both, has been dramatic in the last 20 years;
a dramatic increase—186 percent increase in homicides; and a 300
percent increase in suicide in kids under the age of 14. It is not
that there are more weapons out there; it is what people are per-
ceiving as their use. It is what we are teaching our kids through
a lot of different media and through a lot of other different things
that firearms solve problems. It is the interaction effect. I mean,
if you want to research this—I don’t want to be too technical—but
it is the interaction effect of all these things together that make—
and no offense—that make guns more dangerous today than they
were in 1950. That is the issue—they are more dangerous today
than they were in 1950 when they were in your homes. That is all
I can say. I mean, that is the truth; that is the reality.

The other thing that I think—we want to use proven practices
that work and in schools, we know exactly what works. I would like
to make sure that my extended testimony is in the record, because
in there we talk about those programs, and they relate to legisla-
tion that you and Mr. Barr and others would like to support. I
think we have—you know, we have ESEA coming up, and we have
a lot of other legislative proposals coming up. If people are going
to do things—if we are going to fund things on a local level and
give the responsibility to the local people to have those funds, that
is fine, but let us make sure that we take our responsibility—you
and I take our responsibility to make sure that they don’t waste
that money. That is what Dr. Sherman was saying before and what
I am most worried about. I don’t want that money to be wasted.
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I see the failures; I see the pain; I see people die, and I don’t want
to see that happen anymore with my kids or anyone’s kids.

Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
I will yield now to the gentleman from Georgia.
Mr. BARR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and at the expense of

praising you too much and giving you a swelled head, I would like
to thank you for the entire panels that we have had today, includ-
ing this last one, and I appreciate both the chairman’s patience as
well as the patience of our witnesses. But I have appreciated very
much the opportunity to listen to the panels today and to have the
opportunity to read at least most of the written testimony.

One thing that I know, Mr. Baker, you are very, very well aware
of, because the NRA addresses the issue of consistency of prosecu-
tions of crimes involving firearms, and I know that you are prob-
ably even more aware than I am since this is one of the key issues
that your job forces you to focus on. The inconsistency and lack of—
actually, it isn’t inconsistency in this regard; it is that the adminis-
tration is consistently not prosecuting these cases. But the message
that that sends to people, and I appreciate your trying to focus at-
tention on these sorts of these things.

So, as a former prosecutor, I know how important not just the
substantive tools that a prosecutor has available to him or her but
the message that consistent prosecution sends to the public and de-
veloping respect for law across the board. So, I appreciate your
work in this area.

Mr. BAKER. Thank you.
Mr. BARR. What I would like to do, just one question, Mr. Baker.

If you could, just very briefly explain the nature of some of the edu-
cational and law enforcement programs that the NRA is involved
in, because I know that doesn’t get a lot of the attention that some
of the other work that you all do. But I think, particularly in light
of the fact that this hearing is about children, it might be impor-
tant, if you could just take a minute or so.

Mr. BAKER. Sure, and I would be happy to supply a more exten-
sive account of that for the committee, for the record. As it says
in my title, I am the lobbyist for the association. But we have over
400 employees in the building, most of whom are dedicated to the
safety and training aspects of firearms ownership, and that run
programs from the grade school level on up to adults. And, as I
said in one of the chairman’s questions, firearm ownership is a
right as well as a responsibility, and the responsibility part of fire-
arm ownership deals with safe handling, safe storage, and safe use
of firearms. We have a gun avoidance program for school age chil-
dren that speaks specifically to, if they see a gun, stop; don’t touch;
tell an adult. And it is entirely and completely a gun avoidance
program, and we have those sorts of programs that are relevant for
every age group, as I said, up through adults.

And, as you mentioned briefly, we train and have trained for
years law enforcement around the country in safe and efficient use
of firearms, and while we get a lot of press for the lobbying we do
and what we talk about relative to prosecutions and what you and
I have talked about here, what we have done for most of our his-
tory is education and training, and it is what we continue to em-
phasize from the standpoint of where our resources are put. The
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majority of our resources goes to our general operations divisions
that deal with education training across the country.

But I can certainly expand on that with a written submission.
Mr. BARR. I would appreciate that. Thank you.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. BARR. Do we have a vote, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. MICA. Yes.
Mr. BARR. So, I have time for just one more question. To Mr.

Dwyer, I very much appreciate your testimony and your expertise
in this area.

It seems to me that as a non-expert in this area as you are, just
looking at it more as a layperson, there are basically two problems
that we have. One is to try and identify kids that are out there now
that are problems or that may snap and become a very serious
problem, and then the other focus ought to be what do we do in
the future to avoid those—prevent those kids from developing that
way?

Given that we probably will never have the resources to do ev-
erything to address this problem what would you say are the most
important things that we can be doing right now to try and identify
those children that might be—if anything, to identify children that
might be problems before they—and I don’t know whether the cor-
rect word is ‘‘snap’’ or what—like the kids in Littleton did before
that happens again?

Mr. DWYER. We need, Mr. Barr—and I think this is a critical
issue—we need to find those kids, but we also need to treat those
kids. In other words, once we find them, we have got to do some-
thing to make sure that they don’t carry out—they don’t become
more violent or more aggressive.

But the thing that we need—and I know this is probably unreal-
istic—but in every school, we need a person with my credentials
who teachers and parents can come to, and they can say—and I am
a school psychologist—they can say, ‘‘I am worried about what is
happening. I see these changes in this boy’s behavior, this girl’s be-
havior. I am concerned about that.’’ And then I can——

Mr. BARR. Excuse me, while you are talking about that, are there
Federal laws that pose restrictions right now on your ability to do
that or the ability of parents to come in and speak freely and
frankly with you?

Mr. DWYER. No. The reality of the situation is that there just
aren’t enough persons—there aren’t enough school psychologists,
school counselors, those kinds of persons in schools in the United
States. I mean, we have 1 school psychologist for every 2,300 kids.
That is like a teacher having 50 or more in a class. Very few high
schools have a full-time school psychologist.

Mr. BARR. Is there sort of—and I know it would vary—but what
sort of costs are we talking about in a school to do that?

Mr. DWYER. The salary for a school psychologist is the same as
the salary for a teacher. So, it is like hiring another teacher except
that we have an advanced degree, so if you pay extra for 60 credits
above a Bachelor’s degree, that is what you would be paying a
school psychologist. They don’t get any more—I didn’t make any
more money than anybody else when I worked in the schools.

Mr. BARR. And I don’t want you to go on the record here about
your personal situation, but is there sort of an average that we are
talking about, because, certainly, in terms of appropriations and
money, that would be a concern?

Mr. DWYER. Yes, that is a very good point, and we are—actually,
literally, 2 nights ago, I was made aware that there is a research
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project right now going on to get the average—what is the average
salary, but the average salary in Georgia is very different from the
average salary in Scarsdale, NY.

Mr. BARR. It is probably lower in Georgia.
Mr. DWYER. Yes, it is, much.
Mr. BARR. If you could get that to us, I would really like to look

at that.
Mr. DWYER. We will try to get some information to you on that,

but that may not be ready until August.
[The information referred to follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00209 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



206

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 09:14 Aug 18, 2000 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00210 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 C:\DOCS\63843.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



207

Mr. DWYER. But we need teams of people, like you, as a parent,
that I, as a teacher, if I were a teacher, could go to and say, ‘‘I am
worried about what I see.’’

And then an other thing that we need that is really critical—and
it was mentioned by Dr. Sherman in his testimony but not in his
presentation—was that we need to teach kids problem solving
skills, to teach kids the skills, to teach respect and responsibility.
I know it is a parental responsibility, but we need to do it in our
schools too. If the parents aren’t doing it, we have got to do it.
Thank you.

Mr. BARR. And I think that ties in, I think, Mr. Baker, with what
you are saying also—respect, discipline.

Mr. BAKER. Absolutely.
Mr. BARR. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you,

Mr. Dwyer and Mr. Baker.
Mr. MICA. Well, I would like to thank both of our panelists. It

was the last panel, but, nonetheless, it will be part of the record
that we are trying to build in order to review this whole question
of school violence.

We do appreciate your testimony. We will leave the record open
for 2 weeks, and, without any other further business to come before
this subcommittee at this time, this meeting is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 3:45 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
[Additional information submitted for the hearing record follows:]
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